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Preface

Coverage of financial issues by the press and media increases almost daily in both volume and
complexity. The importance and media coverage of these issues has escalated enormously since
the beginning of the so-called ‘credit crunch’, the global financial crisis that began in 2008. This
includes topics such as debt, interest rates, corporate financial fraud, stock market performance,
investment and growth, mergers and acquisitions, venture capitalists and private equity, deriva-
tives, and foreign currency exchange rates. Each of these topics is in some way concerned with
the risks faced by government organisations and individuals, and by financial institutions, banks,
manufacturing and service companies, and their shareholders and lenders, and the correspond-
ing cash returns that they expect to receive in reward for acceptance of such risks.

Corporate finance is concerned with all these financial issues, which impact on us all in one
way or another and are forever changing in their composition and focus. The discipline of cor-
porate finance is about:

m the way in which financial resources are acquired
m how these resources are most effectively used
m the control of these activities.

The topicality and critical importance of these topics therefore makes their study exciting and
very relevant to a better understanding of the performance of countries’ economies and busi-
nesses, and the decisions and problems they face.

This new textbook is called Corporate Finance and Financial Strategy because it includes not
only the theory and key areas of corporate finance and the range of techniques that may be
used and applied in practice, but also the appropriate financial strategies that may be adopted
in order to optimise the use of the scarce resource of money (or cash flow).

One of the main objectives in writing this book was to produce a clear and user-friendly text,
which embraces both the core principles and practice of corporate finance and also financial
strategy. This book uses a comprehensive set of learning features, illustrative worked examples
and assessment material to support and reinforce your study. It is aimed primarily at students
who are undertaking a degree or diploma in accounting, finance, economics or business man-
agement, which includes a course in corporate finance or financial strategy, or both. It is also
aimed at students undertaking postgraduate finance and business masters degrees, MBA stu-
dents, and students pursuing professional accounting and finance courses.

Content and structure

The content and structure of the text have been carefully researched to follow closely the typi-
cal requirements of most introductory corporate finance and financial strategy courses at both
undergraduate and postgraduate levels. This text assumes no prior knowledge of the subject:



we start at square one and take you step-by-step through the concepts and application of tech-
niques, with clear explanations and numerous examples.

The text comprises 18 chapters, and is structured into two parts: corporate finance, and
financial strategy:

Corporate finance is broadly concerned with the effective acquisition and use of financial
resources in creating corporate value, and its translation into shareholder value. It includes
a wide range of strategic financial management techniques and decision-making relating
to capital investment; capital structure; working capital; the management of financial risk;
financial planning; international operations and investment. It also covers accountability of
company directors and their relationships with shareholders and other stakeholders.
Financial strategy decisions in general relate to the levels of:

m investment in the assets of the business, and the choice of types of asset
®m most appropriate methods of funding — debt or equity

m profit retention

m profit distribution

m gearing, or capital structure of the business

m management of financial risk,

with the aim of maximisation of shareholder wealth.

Financial strategy is concerned with the creation of corporate value, but also how this is
then reflected in increased shareholder wealth through creation of shareholder value con-
sistent with levels of perceived risk and the returns required by investors.

Each of these areas and their component chapters are outlined in the introductory section
to each part of the text.

A further key objective in writing this text was to provide a flexible study resource. There
is a linkage between each of the chapters, which follow a structure that has been designed to
facilitate effective learning of the subject in a progressive way. However, each chapter may also
be used on a standalone basis; equally, chapters may be excluded from study if they relate to
subjects that are not essential for a specific course. Therefore, the text is intended to be suitable
for modules of either one or two semesters’ duration.

Each chapter aims to help students understand the broader context and relevance of corpo-
rate finance and financial strategy in the business environment, and how these may assist in
improving both corporate value and shareholder value. To put each topic in context we have pro-
vided numerous examples and commentary on company activity within each chapter, including
at least one extract from the press and financial media; companies featured include Nestlé, Tesco,
Barclays Bank, Ericsson, Next, Punch Taverns and BT. In addition, the book includes extracts and
analysis of the actual Report and Accounts 2012 of Johnson Matthey, a major UK plc.

Using this book

To support your study and reinforce the topics covered, we have included a comprehensive
range of learning features and assessment material in each chapter, including:

m learning objectives
m introduction
m highlighted key terms



mini cases about real companies
fully worked examples
integrated progress checks

key points summary

glossary of key terms

questions

discussion points

exercises.

Within each chapter we have also included numerous diagrams and charts that illustrate and
reinforce important concepts and ideas. The double-page Guided Tour that follows on pages
xxvii-xxviii summarises the purpose of these learning features and the chapter-end assess-
ment material. To gain maximum benefit from this text and to help you succeed in your study
and exams, you are encouraged to familiarise yourself with these elements now, before you
start the first chapter.

It is easy, but mistaken, to read on cruise control, highlighting the odd sentence and gliding
through the worked examples, progress checks and chapter-end questions and exercises. Active
learning needs to be interactive: if you haven’t followed a topic or an example, go back and
work through it again; try to think of other examples to which particular topics may be applied.
The only way to check you have a comprehensive understanding of things is to attempt all the
integrated progress checks and worked examples, and the chapter-end assessment material,
and then to compare with the text and answers provided. Fully worked solutions are given
immediately after each example, and solutions to around 45% of the chapter-end exercises
(those with their numbers in colour) are provided in Appendix 2. Additional self-assessment
material is available in the student centre of the book’s accompanying website (see page xvi).

Case studies

Throughout the book there are six case studies that may be tackled either individually or as a
team. The case studies are a little more weighty than the chapter-end exercises and integrate
many of the topics covered in the book. Each case study therefore gives you an opportunity to
apply the techniques and knowledge gained, and to develop these together with the analytical
skills, judgement, and strategic approach required to deal with real-life business problems.
Additional cases are provided on the accompanying website.

We hope this textbook will enhance your interest, understanding and skills. Above all, relax,
learn and enjoy!
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Learning objectives at the

beginning of each chapter Learning objectives

enable you to focus on what Completion of this chapter will enable you to:

you Should understand after Explain financial planning as part of the strategic management process.
. . Outline the purpose of financial planning.

using each section of the

book.

Describe the financial planning process.
Use financial modelling to plan the long-term activities of a business.
Identify the ways in which a company may use alternative forecasting methods.

Prepare a cash flow forecast as part of the financial planning process to determine
a company’s funding requirements.
Explain the ways in which a business may plan for its future growth.

Consider the financing options that a company may use to fund its future growth.
Outline the ways in which a company’s performance may be measured against its
plans.

Explain the ways in which the balanced scorecard may be used to translate a
company's strategic plans into operational terms.

The Introduction gives

you a brief overview of the Introduction
content and aims of each Many companies have started up with very good ideas and good intentions with regard
R to their development and future sales growth. However, the corporate graveyard is full of
Chapter, and hOW 1t llnkS to companies that have been unsuccessful in these endeavours because they have failed to
. plan for such growth in terms of its impact on costs and planned levels of investment and
the previous chapter. funding.

This chapter considers financial planning, which is an important part of the strategic
management process, concerned not with the absolute detail but taking a look at the big
picture of the company as a whole. Strategic financial planning is not short term, but is
concerned with periods of more than one year, and looks at expected levels of a company'’s
sales growth and how it may be financed.

In order to produce forecast long-term financial statements, financial plans are pre-
pared based on the company’'s planned growth rate, and its financial ratios relating to
costs, working capital, tax, dividends, and gearing. Forecasts are not plans or budgets
but are predictions of what may happen in the future. There are a variety of techniques,
both qualitative and quantitative, which are used to forecast growth rates. Quantitative
methods include use of the statistical techniques of exponential smoothing and regression
analysis.

Cash flow forecasting is one part of the financial planning process and is used to deter-
mine a company'’s future funding requirements on a monthly and yearly basis. The company
may use its own resources of retained earnings to support its plans for future sales growth. In
some circumstances, additional external funding is necessary for a company planning future
growth.

Key te rms are hlghllghted purposes to intluence improved business unit and departmental performance. Monitoring ot
the ﬁrst tlme they are actual performance against plans is used to provide feedback in order to take the appropriate
action necessary to reach planned performance, and to revise plans in the light of changes.
introduced’ alerting you The role of financial planning is crucial to any business and it is important to be as accurate
as possible. As the Thomas Cook press extract below indicates, the impact of a failure to accur-
tO the core COl’lcepts and ately forecast the costs of long-term projects can have serious consequences for a company’s R0
. . financial stability.
teChquues m eaCh Chapter. Currently, many companies are taking the view that the traditional planning and annual
A f 11 1 . . . . budgeting systems are unsuitable and irrelevant in rapidly changing markets. Further, they
u eXp anation 1s glVen mn believe that budgets fail to deal with the most important drivers of shareholder value such as
. intangible assets like brands and knowledge. Some of these companies, like Volvo, Ikea, and
the Glossary section at the Ericsson, have already revised their need for annual budgets as being an inefficient tool in an
end of the chapter.
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Press extracts feature real
company examples

from the press, including
commentary that highlights
the practical application

of corporate finance in the
business environment.

Numerous Worked
examples throughout the
book provide an application
of the learning points and
techniques included within
each topic. By working
through the step-by-step
solutions, you have an
opportunity to check your
knowledge at frequent
intervals

Progress checks allow
you to check and apply
your understanding of
each key topic before you
move on.

Mature takeover target

listed acquirer. Its earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation and amortisation in 2012
are forecast to fall by 4 per cent and there
is little prospect of growth in 2013. That
perhaps opens the door for private equity,
In a leveraged buy-out scenario, if a buyer
paid, say, £2.5bn - or £5.54 per share, a
30 per cent premium to Inmarsat’s undis-
turbed share price - funded half with debt,
then even assuming no ebitda growth ove
five years, it could produce an internal rate
of return of 12 per cent. Not bad.
Boosting | nmarsat’s appeal is thatits long-

term future looks favourable. It has yet to
materially tap into emerging markets and its
new global broadband satellites could boos
its military business revenues late next year.
Currentinvestors may be fed up with the lack
of action but a private buyer with a longer-
term perspective should be able to find valu
in the business. For Inmarsat’s long-suffering
shareholders, that would be a relief.

adly, there is still plenty of action in

Afghanistan. But for investors in Inmar-
sat — the UK satellite company that provides
phones andinternetservicesto ships, aircral
and soldiers in such remote places — som
action in the boardroom would be welcome.
Overthe past year, the company’s share pric
has fallen by two-fifths as a stalled shipping
industry and cutbacks in military activity
hurt business. Is this a perfect moment t
make a bid?

Inmarsat’s shares jumped 4 per cent yes®
terday on speculation that it may be a take
over target. EADS and General Electric
have been aired as possible candidates. Th
Franco-German aerospace group bough
Vizada, one of Inmarsat’s main distributors,
last year for €1bn and adding Inmarsat may|
open some prospect of synergies. Cost sav1
ings are less obvious for GE, though.

That said, Inmarsat’s tepid medium-term
outlook could be a turn-off for a publicly

Source: Inmarsat, Lex column (2012), Financial Times, 9 February.
©The Financial Times Limited 2012.All Rights Reserved.

Worked example 11.6

Martin plc, a Ul inati
hartin gital WitI}(1 ;n;rlllzrlll:;t:z:ﬁi co;nﬁpla(;lg, has equity with a market value of £150m and
: e o ?
debrcapltal with s market value m. The company’s current cost of equity is 12%,
Martin plc h '
plc has secured a contract worth Aus$80m to supply and install plant and
ang

equipment for a company i i
y in Australia. The pa;
: b @
e o e payment terms of the contract set by Martin

® Aus$20m payment t
0 be made on completi
s pletion of stage one of the contract at the end of

= Aus$24m payment to be made on completion of stage two of the contract at the end of

® Aus$36m payment to be
made on i
e completion of stage three of the contract at the end
The estimat i
imated cost of the supply and installation of the plant and equipment is Aus$70:
is Aus$70m.

Project cash outflows i

ws in respect of the proj
e h project are expected to involve i
$, £ sterling, and euro — and cash flows are estimated as follows: ¢ three cutrencies

Year o
1
Inflows ’ °
Aus$ 0
Outflows “ “ %
Aus$ 6
) 7

21( £ 3 3 1 g

3 3 4 5

Th
e current exchange rates at the start of the project are:

£ = Aus$2.50
€ = Aus$1.67

Progress check 11.7

Explain the significance of the choice of discount rate in international in men
icance ice SC i i investment appraisal
i




Mini case boxes provide a
real-world context for key
topics.

A Summary of key points
features at the end of each
chapter. This allows you to
check that you understand all
the main points covered before
moving on to the next chapter.

At the end of each chapter

a Glossary of key terms in
alphabetical order provides
full definitions of any key
terms that have been intro-
duced. The numbers of the
pages on which key term defi-
nitions appear are high-lighted
in the index.

Guided tour m

Mini case 17.2

One of the benefits of using a rights issue to fund an acquisition lies in the opportunity
to maintain the same profile of shareholders after the funds have been raised without
increasing the gearing of the company outside normal levels.

In September 2009 Balfour Beatty plc, a UK engineering and construction company,
announced the acquisition of the US professional services business Parsons Brinckerhoff
in a $626m (£380m) takeover.

Balfour Beatty plc offered a 3 for 7 rights issue at 180 pence per ordinary share (a dis-
count of 48%) to raise approximately £353m, net of issue expenses. The outcome was that
existing shareholders bought 97% of 199.5m new shares, with the remaining 6m shares
bought by other investors.

After the acquisition, the overall spread of shareholders therefore altered only margin-
ally, and the gearing ratio remained at a level acceptable to the company.

Balfour Beatty plc gearing 2006 to 2010

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
115% 140% 104% 158% 160%

Summary of key points

Internationalisation, with regard to the increasing geographical dispersion of economic,
cultural, social, educational, technological, and political activities across national bor-
ders, has an increasing impact on the role of the financial markets and the activities of
international companies.

m The international financial marketplace is an interrelated network of buyers and sellers
in which exchange activities occur in the pursuit of profit and reward, and has obvious
significance for international companies.

Companies may wish to undertake overseas operations for a variety of reasons, but particu-
larly to gain access to overseas markets by enabling them to get closer to their customers.

Companies may engage in various types of international operations, for example through
exporting, use of agents, licensing, franchising, or the establishment of a branch, joint
venture, or an overseas subsidiary.

International companies may consider foreign direct investment (FDI) in terms of invest-
ments in new or expanded facilities overseas.

There are additional, unique features associated with international investment appraisal
in a multi-currency, overseas environment, compared with the appraisal of domestic
investment projects, for example taxation, foreign currency cash flows, overseas interest
rates, transfer prices, royalties, management fees, exchange controls, and country risk.

The evaluation of international investment using NPV requires the choice of a suitable
cost of capital as a discount rate, the most appropriate of which may be the required
return specific to the individual investment.

The choice of financing for international investments requires the consideration of cur-
rency risk, interest rate risk, taxation, gearing, and country risk.

Country risk, which is also called political risk, is the exposure a company faces as a con-
sequence of a change in government action, against which it may protect itself through,
for example, insurance, negotiation, development of close relationships, establishment
of a local presence, and the use of local financing.

Glossary of key terms

arbitrage This is the act of exploiting the price differences in financial instruments, or other
assets, in different markets by simultaneously buying and selling the assets to make a profit
from the price difference. It exists because there are market inefficiencies but it also provides
ameans of ensuring that prices do not remain different for long periods and that an equilib-
rium price is finally reached.

cost of debt The annual percentage rate of return required by long-term lenders to a company
(loans and bonds), generally expressed net of tax as a cost to the company.

cost of equity The annual percentage rate of return required by the shareholders of a company.

dividend growth model (or Gordon growth model) A method of calculating cost of equity
that assumes a direct link between the share price and expected future dividends and recog-
nises the expected rate of dividend growth (G) achieved through reinvestment of retained
earnings.

dividend model A method of calculating the cost of equity that divides the current dividend
by the current share price, which is based on the notion that shareholders may value shares
by the value of their expected dividends.
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Short narrative-type
Questions encourage you

to review and check your
understanding of all the key
topics. There are typically 7
to 10 of these questions at the
end of each chapter.

A Discussion points section
typically includes 2 to 4
thought-provoking ideas

and questions that encourage
you to critically apply your
understanding and/or further
develop some of the topics
introduced in each chapter,
either individually or in group
discussion.

Exercises provide
comprehensive examination-
style questions which are
graded by their level of dif-
ficulty, and also indicate the
time typically required to com-
plete them. They are designed
to assess your knowledge and
application of the principles
and techniques covered in
each chapter. Full solutions

to the colour-highlighted
exercise numbers are provided
in Appendix 2 to allow you to
self-asses your progress

Questions

Q17.1 Why is the method of financing important in M&As?

Q17.2 In what ways does a cash purchase of a business differ from a vendor placing?
Q17.3 How may eps be enhanced from a takeover?

Q17.4 Describe the various forms of equity restructuring that may be used by a target com-
pany to avoid its being taken over.

Q17.5 How may profit announcements, and changes in dividend policy, be used by target
companies to provide defences after a takeover bid has been made?

Q17.6 Describe and explain the range of defence strategies used by companies facing a hos-
tile takeover bid.

Q17.7 Outline the types of problem faced by employees and managers after their company
has been taken over.

Discussion points

D17.1 ‘Takeovers merely satisfy the inflated egos of power-hungry company bosses.” Discuss.

D17.2 ‘The ways in which M&As are financed do not have any influence on their subsequent
success.’ Discuss.

D17.3 ‘There is no real defence against a takeover bid from a determined predator company.’
Discuss.

D17.4 ‘The position of shareholders, managers, and employees in M&As is largely disre-
garded by both predator and target companies.’ Discuss.

Exercises

Solutions are provided in Appendix 2 to all excercise numbers highlighted in colour.

Level |
E2.1 Time allowed — 15 minutes

Identify the components of shareholder wealth and explain how the strategic finan-
cial decisions made by a company impact on each of them.

E2.2 Time allowed — 15 minutes

1d q

Explain what is meant by sharel value and
tives. Outline three ways of measuring shareholder value.

the value-creating alterna-

E23 Time allowed — 30 minutes

Explain how alternative methods may be used to measure shareholder value and give
your view as to which may be the most appropriate measure.

Level Il

E2.4  Time allowed — 30 minutes

At a recent board meeting the managing director of Angel plc announced that the
company’s directors had been awarded substantial cash bonuses and share options,
despite the incurring sut ial losses during the last financial year. Explain
why the above represents an agency problem within a company between the directors
and the shareholders, and the ways in which it may be resolved.
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Introduction to Part |

Part | of this book is about corporate finance, which is concerned with the effective use
of financial resources in creating corporate value. It looks at the financial environment in
which businesses operate, their financial aims and objectives, and includes a wide range
of financial management techniques related to financial decision-making. These include,
for example, capital investment, capital structure, working capital, the management of
financial risk, financial planning, and international operations and investment. It also con-
siders the ways in which compliance with various corporate governance guidelines broadly
supports the achievement of business objectives in determining the responsibilities and
accountability of company directors and their relationships with shareholders and other
stakeholders.

In Chapter 1, Figure 1.1 provides the framework of strategic corporate finance on which this
book is based. The topics included in each of the shaded areas in Figure 1.1 are covered in
Chapters 1 to 12, except for financial strategy, which is covered in Chapters 13 to 18 in Part Il
of this book.

Part | is concerned primarily with the creation of corporate value and its translation into
shareholder value. Part Il of this book is about the use of appropriate financial strategies,
as distinct from business strategies. This looks at what companies may do to ensure not only
the creation of corporate value, but also that the performance of the business is reflected
in the maximisation of shareholder value. Companies may do all the right things in terms
of creating value from investments in value-creating projects. However, if this performance
is not translated into and reflected in optimal shareholder value through dividend growth
and an increasing share price then the primary objective of the business — maximisation of
shareholder wealth - is not being achieved.

The providers of the capital for a business, its shareholders and lenders, require appropriate
returns on their investments from dividends, interest, and share price increases, commensur-
ate with the levels of risk they are prepared to accept associated with the type of businesses
and industrial sectors in which they invest. The directors or managers of a company have
the responsibility for pursuit of the objective of shareholder wealth maximisation. Faced
with different types and levels of risk at each stage in a company’s development, directors’
responsibilities therefore include not only ensuring that value is added to the business, that
is corporate value, through making ‘real’ investments in projects that return the highest pos-
sible positive net present values of cash flows, but also ensuring that appropriate financial
strategies are adopted that reflect this in the value created for shareholders, that is share-
holder wealth.

These ‘real’ investment types of decision and their financing are dealt with in Part I. Part Il
looks at how companies are exposed to varying levels of financial risk at each of the dif-
ferent stages in their development, and in response to these how they may apply the
techniques dealt with in Part I. Part Il also considers how the creation of corporate value
by companies at each stage of their development may then be reflected in increased
shareholder value through the use of appropriate financial strategies and exploitation
of market imperfections. We will explore how different financial strategies may apply at
different stages in the development of a company. Shareholder value is provided in two
ways: from increases in the price of shares; and the payment of dividends on those shares.



In Part Il we look at the ways in which strategic financial decisions may be made relating
to the levels of:

m investment in the assets of the business, and the types of assets
B most appropriate methods of funding — debt or equity

m profit retention

m profit distribution

m gearing, or capital structure of the business,

with the aim of maximisation of shareholder wealth through creation of shareholder value
consistent with levels of perceived risk and returns required by investors and lenders.

To provide a framework for Part Il in which to consider these decisions we will use a sim-
plified, theoretical ‘business life cycle’ model, the BLC, which describes the stages through
which businesses may typically progress from their initial start-up through to their ultimate
decline and possible demise. The financial parameters particular to each stage of this simpli-
fied business life cycle will be identified and appropriate financial strategies will be discussed
that may be used to exploit the specific circumstances in order to create shareholder value.

Chapter 1 looks at the financial environment in which businesses operate and their financial
aims and objectives. This chapter provides the framework of corporate finance.

Chapter 2 considers the objectives of businesses. A business raises money from shareholders
and lenders to invest in assets, which are used to increase the wealth of the business and
its owners. The underlying fundamental economic objective of a company is to maximise
shareholder wealth.

In Chapter 3 we provide an introduction to corporate governance. This topic has become
increasingly important, particularly since 2008 and the unacceptable behaviour of banks
and other financial institutions, and as the responsibilities of directors continue to increase.
We look at the ways in which compliance with the various corporate governance guidelines
broadly supports the achievement of the aims and objectives of companies in determining
the responsibilities and accountability of company directors and their relationships with
shareholders and other stakeholders. The burden lies with management to run businesses
in strict compliance with statutory, regulatory, and accounting requirements, so it is crucial
that directors are aware of the rules and codes of practice that are in place to regulate the
behaviour of directors of limited companies.

Chapter 4 examines the relationship between risk and return and how diversification may
be used to mitigate and reduce risk. It considers the impact of diversification and looks at
the portfolio theory developed by Markowitz.

Chapter 5 considers the way in which a company’s average cost of capital may be determined
from the costs of its various types of capital financing. The average cost of a company'’s capi-
tal is an important factor in determining the value of a business. In theory the minimisation
of the combined cost of equity, debt, and retained earnings used by a company to finance its
business should increase its value. The average cost of a company’s capital may also be used
as the discount rate with which to evaluate proposed investments in new capital projects.
Chapter 5 considers whether an optimal capital structure is of fundamental importance to
its average cost of capital and looks at the various approaches taken to determine this.



Chapter 6 considers how businesses make decisions about potential investments that may be
made in order to ensure that the wealth of the business will be increased. This is an import-
ant area of decision-making that usually involves a great deal of money and relatively long-
term commitments. It therefore requires appropriate techniques to ensure that the financial
objectives of the company are in line with the interests of the shareholders.

Chapter 7 deals primarily with long-term, external sources of business finance available for
investment in businesses. This relates to the various types of funding available to a business,
including the raising of funds from the owners of the business (the shareholders) and from
lenders external to the business. Chapter 7 closes with an introduction to the fast-growing
area of Islamic banking and Islamic finance.

Chapter 8 is headed Financial analysis. The three main financial statements provide informa-
tion about business performance. Much more may be gleaned about the performance of
a business through further analysis of the financial statements, using financial ratios and
other techniques, for example trend analysis, industrial and inter-company analysis. Chapter
8 looks at the analysis and interpretation of the published accounts of a business. It uses the
Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2012 of Johnson Matthey Plc to illustrate
the type of financial and non-financial information provided by a major UK public company.
The chapter closes with a look at some of the measures that approximate to cash flow, for
example earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and amortisation (EBITDA), and eco-
nomic value added (EVA), that may be used to evaluate company performance.

Chapter 9 deals with the way in which businesses, as part of their strategic management
process, translate their long-term objectives into financial plans. This chapter includes con-
sideration of the role of forecasting, financial modelling, and planning for growth.

In Chapter 10 we look at one of the sources of finance internal to a business, its working
capital, and the impact that its effective management has on cash flow, profitability, and
return on capital. Working capital comprises the short-term assets of the business, inventor-
ies, trade receivables, and cash, and claims on the business — trade payables. This chapter
deals with how these important items may be more effectively managed. We are now living
in a global economy in which businesses trade internationally, and may also have a presence
in a number of overseas countries.

In Chapter 11 the implications of internationalisation are discussed with regard to compan-
ies’ involvement in overseas operations, directly and indirectly, and it considers the appraisal
and financing of international investments.

Chapter 12 looks at financial risk faced by businesses resulting from the variation in interest
rates, and currency exchange rates, from one period to another. We consider the different
ways in which these risks may be approached by companies, and the techniques that may be
used to manage such risks. We consider the development of derivatives and look at exam-
ples of their use by companies (and their misuse, which we have seen over the past ten years
or so). Finally, we explore the relatively newly developed topic of behavioural finance that
aims to understand and explain the sometimes seemingly irrational behaviour of investors.
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n Chapter 1 The financial environment

Learning objectives

Completion of this chapter will enable you to:
m Outline the framework of corporate finance and its link with financial strategy.

m lllustrate the different types of business entity: sole traders, partnerships, private
limited companies, public limited companies.

Explain the role of the finance function within a business organisational structure.
Explain the nature and purpose of financial statements.

Consider the issues of accountability and financial reporting.

Describe what is meant by accounting and corporate finance.

Outline how the corporate finance function is managed to meet business
objectives.

m Explain the underlying principles of corporate finance.

Introduction

This chapter explains why finance is such a key element of business life. For aspiring finance
directors, finance managers, and accountants, and those of you who may not continue to
study finance and accounting, the underlying principles of finance are important topics. A
broad appreciation will be useful not only in dealing with the subsequent text, but also in
the context of the day-to-day management of a business.

The chapter begins by explaining how the discipline of corporate finance was estab-
lished and developed. It provides the framework on which each of the subsequent chap-
ters is based. It also explains the links between corporate finance and strategy, and how
the financial models and techniques covered in the first part of the book are used in
the adoption of appropriate financial strategies by companies at different stages in their
development.

The owners or shareholders of the range of business entities may be assumed to have
the primary objective of maximisation of their wealth. Directors of the business manage
the resources of the business to meet shareholders’ objectives. Directors and managers are
responsible for running businesses, and their accountability to shareholders is maintained
through their regular reporting on the activities of the business.

The finance function plays a crucially important part in all organisations. Its responsi-
bilities include both accounting and corporate finance, the latter relating to the manage-
ment and control of the financial resources at its disposal. The effective management of
corporate finance is essential in ensuring that the business meets its primary objective of
maximisation of shareholder wealth. This chapter introduces the fundamental concepts and
principles of corporate finance.

A large number of financial terms are used throughout this book, the definitions of
which may be found in the glossaries of key terms at the end of each chapter.



Corporate finance and financial strategy

Corporate finance and financial strategy

The business environment comprises companies that have just started up or are in various
stages of their development. Each has its own reason for being in business and each has its
own financing requirements. In the early part of the 20th century when new industries and
technologies were emerging there was a growing requirement for new financing, particularly
from external sources. This requirement saw increasing interest in various types of securities,
particularly equity shares, and also led to the establishment of finance as a discipline separate
from economics, in which it had its origins.

The growth in equity shareholdings increased (and has continued to increase up to the pres-
ent day) but confidence was drastically dented during the economic depression and as a result
of the financial scandals of the 1930s. As bankruptcy became a real possibility more attention
began to be focused on companies’ liquidity and financial structure, and there was a need for
increased disclosure of financial information and its analysis. The 1940s saw an increase in
financial analysis of cash flow, planning, and methods of control. In the 1950s capital budget-
ing emerged together with the financial management of assets, and an awareness of how finan-
cial decision-making impacted on the value of businesses. This all led to the establishment of
the discipline of corporate finance in the early 1960s supported by the publication of a number
of academic papers on topics such as the capital markets and share prices, which had previ-
ously been considered only in the areas of economics and statistics.

Corporate finance continues to be developed from its beginnings at the start of the 20th cen-
tury, as do the techniques used in the management of corporate finance, and with an increas-
ing emphasis on international aspects of trade, investment and financing. This book covers all
the main areas of corporate finance and its management (financial management).

Let’s consider each of the elements of the chart in Figure 1.1, which provides the framework
on which this book is based. It is not strictly a flow chart but contains the topics, roles, and
techniques covered in this book (and the relationships between them), which are represented
by the elements of the chart that are shaded.

Corporate objectives (see Chapter 2) are formulated by a business, in alignment with its
underlying mission and company policy, and may include for example profit maximisation, or
market share maximisation. Its mission is the company’s general sense of purpose or underly-
ing belief. Its policy is a long-lasting, usually unquantified, statement of guidance about the
way in which the company seeks to behave in relation to its stakeholders. A company normally
has social and environmental responsibilities, responsibilities to its employees, and responsi-
bilities to all its other stakeholders. However, this should not be inconsistent with its primary
responsibility to its shareholders. We are assuming that the aim of a business is to add value
for its shareholders with the primary objective of maximising shareholder wealth. Shareholder
wealth comprises the dividends paid to shareholders on the shares they hold, and the gains
achieved from the increase in the market price of their shares.

The directors of a business are appointed by the shareholders to manage the business on
their behalf. The directors are responsible for developing appropriate strategies that determine
what the company is going to do to achieve its objectives, with the primary aim of maximising
shareholder wealth. A strategy is a course of action that includes a specification of resources
required to achieve a specific objective; it is what the company needs to do long term to achieve
its objectives, but it does not include how to achieve them.

A company’s strategy includes its business strategy, which establishes the type of busi-
ness, its location, its products and services, its markets, its use of resources, and its growth
objectives. These areas are assessed with regard to the risks associated with them for which
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Corporate finance and financial strategy u

appropriate risk management techniques may be put in place. The company’s business
strategy is quantified for the long term (typically three years, five years, or ten years) through
its financial planning function (see Chapter 9). The short term is quantified in the company’s
six-monthly or yearly budgets.

A company’s strategy also includes financial strategy. This book links corporate finance and
financial management with financial strategy. Chapters 1 to 12 discuss the various aspects,
models, and hypotheses relating to the discipline of corporate finance, and the techniques
and methods used in the financial management of a business. Chapters 13 to 18 deal with the
various stages of development of a business, and each chapter considers the most appropri-
ate financial strategies that may be adopted by companies with regard to their current stage
of development. ‘Most appropriate financial strategies’ means those financial strategies that
result in the optimisation of the value of the business, with the aim of maximising shareholder
wealth. An example of such a strategy is a company that may buy insurance to cover the risks
relating to the achievement of its commercial objectives. The high cost of the insurance premi-
ums means that the short-term profits of the company are reduced, but the long-term value of
the business to the shareholders will be increased because of the removal of uncertainty about
the company’s future earnings.

At the heart of corporate finance are two broad areas that deal with how the company will
achieve its objectives, and specifically its financial objective of maximisation of shareholder
wealth. The first area relates to the allocation and use of financial resources for real capital
investment (see Chapter 6) in, for example, new product development, land and buildings,
and plant and equipment (as distinct from the popular meaning of investment in securities,
stocks and shares). The second area relates to the financing of such investments, which may
be internal to the company from the retained earnings of the business or from improvements
in its management of working capital (see Chapter 10) or from external financing. External
financing broadly comprises loans and equity share capital provided to companies by investors
and which may be acquired and traded in capital markets like, for example, the London Stock
Exchange (see Chapter 7).

Capital investments may be made by companies in their own domestic countries, but compa-
nies are also now becoming increasingly involved in international operations and investment
(see Chapter 11), and international financing (see Chapter 7). Domestic and international
investment, and domestic and international financing, all face various types of risk (see Chap-
ter 4), including financial risk, the management of which is discussed in Chapter 12.

If good decisions are made by a company’s managers and directors, which result in invest-
ments that add value then corporate value will be increased and reflected in increased cash
flow. It is crucially important to appreciate that it is cash flow (in real terms) and not profits,
which reflects the true value of a business. If good decisions are made with regard to financ-
ing then the capital structure of the company will result in the cost of capital of the company
being at a level that will also enhance its corporate value (see Chapter 5). However, an increase
in corporate value may not necessarily result in an increase in shareholder value. That will
depend partly on how much of the cash flow that has been generated has been used to pay out
dividends (or retained for future investment), and partly in the increase (or not) in the share
price. The share price will depend on the market’s perception of the financial health of the
business, and the demand for and level of trading in the company’s shares. The analysis of the
financial performance and the financial position of a business is considered in Chapter 8.

In theory, the creation of value through adoption of appropriate strategies, and making
the right decisions, looks simple and straightforward. In practice, there are of course many
obstacles in the way to prevent a company from achieving its objectives. There are competitive
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forces in most markets from existing companies, from new entrants to the market, and from
substitute and alternative products and services. There may be pressures on revenues, costs,
and profitability from powerful customers or groups of customers who may demand lower
selling prices, or higher levels of quality or service for the same price. There may be pressures
on costs and profitability from suppliers or groups of suppliers who may increase prices or
control the supply of materials, components, or services. There may be constraints in terms
of market demand, availability of materials and people, knowledge, technology, legislation,
taxation, import tariffs, social and environmental responsibilities, and media and political
pressure.

In addition to the predominantly external obstacles to achieving corporate objectives out-
lined above, there may also be a major internal obstacle, which is called the agency problem
(see Chapter 2). As we have said, the shareholders appoint the directors to manage the company
on their behalf. The primary role of the directors is to make decisions and manage the busi-
ness consistent with the objective of maximisation of shareholder wealth. The agency problem
is concerned mainly with situations in which there is a lack of goal congruence between the
directors and shareholders of a company, and the decisions of the directors are not aligned with
the requirements of the shareholders. The most serious examples of this have been seen in the
numerous cases of fraud and corporate excesses over the past 30 years, which have been exten-
sively reported in the financial press. In the UK, the USA, and many other countries through-
out the world the concern about financial reporting and accountability and the effect of such
financial scandals resulted in the development of various codes of corporate governance (see
Chapter 3). Corporate governance is broadly the system by which companies are directed and
controlled, and how directors report on the activities and progress of companies to their share-
holders.

In the section above we have been talking about businesses and companies in general with
regard to corporate finance and financial strategy. Many of the financial techniques covered in
this book relate primarily, although not exclusively, to medium-sized and large limited com-
panies. However, it is useful to consider all the various types of business entity that exist and
exactly what we mean by a private limited company (Ltd) and a public limited company
(plc), which is all discussed in the next section.

Types of business entity

Business entities are involved in manufacturing (for example, food and automotive compo-
nents), or exploration, extraction and production (for example oil, gas, and precious metals),
or in providing services (for example, retailing, hospitals, and television broadcasting). Such
entities include profit-making and not-for-profit organisations, and charities. The main types of
entity and the environments in which they operate are represented in Figure 1.2. The four main
types of profit-making organisations are explained in the sections that follow.

The variety of business entities can be seen to range from quangos (quasi-autonomous non-
government organisations), to partnerships, to limited companies.

Sole traders

A sole trader entity is applicable for most types of small business. It is owned and financed by
one individual, who receives all the profit made by the business, even though more than one
person may work in the business.
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The individual sole trader has complete flexibility regarding:

m the type of (legal) activities in which the business may be engaged
when to start up or cease the business
m the way in which business is conducted.

The individual sole trader also has responsibility for:

financing the business

risk-taking

decision-making

employing staff

any debts or loans that the business may have (the responsibility for which is unlim-

ited, and cases of financial difficulty may result in personal property being used to repay
debts).

A sole trader business is simple and cheap to set up. There are no legal or administrative set-up
costs as the business does not have to be registered since it is not a legal entity separate from
its owner. As we shall see, this is unlike the legal position of owners, or shareholders, of limited
companies who are recognised as separate legal entities from the businesses they own.
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Accounting records are needed to be kept by sole traders for the day-to-day management
of the business and to provide an account of profit made during each tax year. Unlike limited
companies, sole traders are not required to file a formal report and accounts each year with the
Registrar of Companies. However, UK sole traders must prepare accounts on an annual basis
to provide the appropriate financial information for inclusion in their annual tax return for
submission to HMRC (Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs).

Sole traders normally remain quite small businesses, which may be seen as a disadvantage.
The breadth of business skills is likely to be lacking since there are no co-owners with whom to
share the management and development of the business.

Partnerships

Partnerships are similar to sole traders except that the ownership of the business is in the hands
of two or more persons. The main differences are in respect of how much money each of the
partners puts into the business, who is responsible for what, and how the profits are to be
shared. These factors are normally set out in formal partnership agreements, and if the part-
nership agreement is not specific then the provisions of the Partnership Act 1890 apply. There
is usually a written partnership agreement (but this is not absolutely necessary) and so there
are initial legal costs of setting up the business.

A partnership is called a firm and is usually a small business, although there are some very
large partnerships, for example firms of accountants like PricewaterhouseCoopers. Partner-
ships are formed by two or more persons and, apart from certain professions like accountants,
architects, and solicitors, the number of persons in a partnership is limited to 20.

A partnership:

B can carry out any legal activities agreed by all the partners
is not a legal entity separate from its partners.

The partners in a firm:

can all be involved in running the business

all share the profits made by the firm

are all jointly and severally liable for the debts of the firm

all have unlimited liability for the debts of the firm (and cases of financial difficulty may
result in personal property being used to repay debts)

m are each liable for the actions of the other partners.

Accounting records are needed to be kept by partnerships for the day-to-day management of
the business and to provide an account of profit made during each tax year. Unlike limited
companies, partnership firms are not required to file a formal report and accounts each year
with the Registrar of Companies, but partners must submit annual returns for tax purposes to
HMRC.

A new type of legal entity was established in 2001, the limited liability partnership (LLP).
This is a variation on the traditional partnership, and the maximum number of partners is
unlimited. It has a separate legal identity from the partners, which therefore protects them
from personal bankruptcy.

One of the main benefits of a partnership is that derived from its broader base of business
skills than that of a sole trader. A partnership is also able to share risk-taking, decision-making,
and the general management of the firm.
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A limited company is a legal entity separate from the owners of the business, which may enter
into contracts, own property, and take or receive legal action. The owners limit their obliga-
tions to the amount of finance they have put into the company by way of the share of the com-
pany they have paid for. Normally, the maximum that may be claimed from shareholders is no
more than they have paid for their shares, regardless of what happens to the company. Equally,
there is no certainty that shareholders may recover their original investment if they wish to
dispose of their shares or if the business is wound up, for whatever reason.

A company with unlimited liability does not give the owners (or shareholders) of the com-
pany the protection of limited liability. If the business were to fail, the members would be lia-
ble, without limitation, for all the debts of the business.

A further class of company is a company limited by guarantee, which is normally incorpor-
ated for non-profit-making functions. The company has no share capital and has members
rather than shareholders. The members of the company guarantee to contribute a predeter-
mined sum to the liabilities of the company, which becomes due in the event of the company
being wound up.

The legal requirements relating to the registration and operation of limited companies is
contained within the Companies Act 2006. Limited companies are required to be registered
with the Registrar of Companies as either a private limited company (Ltd) or a public limited
company (plc).

Limited companies

Private limited companies (Ltd)

A private limited company is designated as Ltd. There are legal formalities involved in setting
up a Ltd company which result in costs for the company. These formalities include the drafting
of the company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association (M and A) that describe what the
company is and what it is allowed to do, the registration of the company and its director(s) with
the Registrar of Companies, and the registration of the name of the company.

The shareholders provide the financing of the business in the form of share capital, of which
there is no minimum requirement, and are therefore the owners of the business. The share-
holders must appoint at least one director of the company, who may also be the company sec-
retary, who carries out the day-to-day management of the business. A Ltd company may only
carry out the activities included in its M and A.

Limited companies must regularly produce annual accounts for their shareholders and file a
copy with the Registrar of Companies (at Companies House), and therefore the general public
may have access to this information. A Ltd company’s accounts must be audited by a suitably
qualified accountant, unless it has a small company exemption from this requirement, cur- 4|
rently (with effect from 6 April 2008) by having annual sales revenue of less than £6.5m and a
balance sheet total of less than £3.26m. The exemption is not compulsory and having no audit 4l
may be a disadvantage: banks, financial institutions, customers, and suppliers may rely on
information from Companies House to assess creditworthiness, and they are usually reassured
by an independent audit. Ltd companies must also provide copies of their annual accounts to
HMRC and also generally provide a separate computation of their profit on which corporation
tax is payable. The accounting profit of a Ltd company is adjusted for:

m various expenses that may not be allowable in computing taxable profit
m tax allowances that may be deducted in computing taxable profit.



m Chapter 1 The financial environment

Iy

Limited companies tend to be family businesses and smaller businesses with the owner-
ship split among a few shareholders, although there have been many examples of very large
private limited companies. The shares of Ltd companies may be bought and sold but they
may not be offered for sale to the general public. Since ownership is usually with family and
friends there is rarely a ready market for the shares and so their sale usually requires a valu-
ation of the business.

Progress check 1.1

Which features of a limited company are similar to those of a sole trader?

Public limited companies (plc)

A public limited company is designated as plc. A plc usually starts its life as a Ltd company and
then becomes a public limited company by applying for registration as a plc and a listing of its
shares on the Stock Exchange or the Alternative Investment Market (AIM), and making a
public offer for sale of shares in the company. Plcs must have a minimum issued share capital of
(currently) £50,000. The offer for sale, dealt with by a financial institution and the company’s
legal representatives, is very costly. The formalities also include the redrafting of the company’s
M and A, reflecting its status as a plc, registering the company and its director(s) with the
Registrar of Companies, and registering the name of the plc.

The shareholders must appoint at least two directors of the company, who carry out the
day-to-day management of the business, and a suitably qualified company secretary to ensure
the plc’s compliance with company law. A plc may only carry out the activities included in its
M and A.

Plcs must regularly produce annual accounts, a copy of which they must send to all their
shareholders. They must also file a copy with the Registrar of Companies, and therefore the
general public may have access to this information. The larger plcs usually provide printed
glossy annual reports and accounts which they distribute to their shareholders and other inter-
ested parties. A plc’s accounts must be audited by a suitably qualified accountant, unless it is
exempt as a small company as noted above. The same drawback applies to having no audit as
applies with a Ltd company. Plcs must also provide copies of their annual accounts to HMRC
and also generally provide a separate computation of their profit on which corporation tax is
payable. The accounting profit of a plc is adjusted for:

m various expenses that may not be allowable in computing taxable profit
m tax allowances that may be deducted in computing taxable profit.

The shareholders provide the financing of the plc in the form of share capital and are there-
fore the owners of the business. The ownership of a plc can therefore be seen to be spread
among many shareholders (individuals, and institutions like insurance companies and
pension funds), and the shares may be freely traded and bought and sold by the general
public.

Progress check 1.2

What are the different types of business entity? Can you think of some examples of each?
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Worked example 1.1

Ike Andoowit is in the process of planning the setting up of a new residential training cen-
tre. Ike has discussed with a number of his friends the question of registering the business
as a limited company, or being a sole trader. Most of Ike’s friends have highlighted the
advantages of limiting his liability to the original share capital that he would need to put
into the company to finance the business. Ike feels a bit uneasy about the whole question
and decides to obtain the advice of a professional accountant to find out:

m the main disadvantages of setting up a limited company as opposed to a sole trader
m if Ike’s friends are correct about the advantage of limiting one’s liability
m what other advantages there are to registering the business as a limited company.

The accountant may answer Ike’s questions as follows:

Setting up as a sole trader is a lot simpler and cheaper than setting up a limited com-
pany. A limited company is bound by the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, and, for
example, may be required to have an independent annual audit. A limited company is
required to be much more open about its affairs.

The financial structure of a limited company is more complicated than that of a sole
trader. There are also additional costs involved in the setting up, and in the administra-
tive functions of a limited company.

Running a business as a limited company requires registration of the business with the
Registrar of Companies.

AsIke’s friends have pointed out, the financial obligations of a shareholder in a limited
company are generally restricted to the amount he, or she, has paid for their shares. In
addition, the number of shareholders is potentially unlimited, which widens the scope for
raising additional capital.

It should also be noted that:

m alimited company is restricted in its choice of business name

m if any director or 10% of the shareholders request it, a limited company is required to
hold a general meeting at any time

m any additional finance provided for a company by a bank is likely to require a personal
guarantee from one or more shareholders.

Progress check 1.3

There are some differences between those businesses that have been established as sole
traders and those established as partnerships, and there are also differences between
private limited companies and public limited companies. What are these differences, and
what are the similarities?

Throughout this book, when we talk about companies we are generally referring to limited com-
panies, as distinct from sole traders and partnerships (or firms — although this term is frequently
wrongly used to refer to companies). As we have discussed, limited liability companies have an
identity separate from their owners, the shareholders, and the liability of shareholders is limited
to the amount of money they have invested in the company, that is their shares in the company.
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Ownership of a business is separated from its stewardship, or management, by the share-
holders’ assignment to a board of directors the responsibility for running the company. The
directors of the company are accountable to the shareholders, and both parties must play their
part in making that accountability effective.

Business organisational structures

The board of directors of a limited company includes its chairman, a managing director (or
CEO - chief executive officer), and a number of functional executive directors that may include
one or more professionally qualified accountants, one of whom may be the finance director.
The directors of the company necessarily delegate to middle managers and junior managers
the responsibility for the day-to-day management of the business. It is certainly likely that this
body of managers, who report to the board of directors, will include a further one or more
qualified accountants responsible for managing the finance function.

The traditional structure of the finance function in a medium- to large-sized company
(see Figure 1.3) splits responsibilities broadly between accounting and finance, both being
the responsibility of the finance director (or CFO - chief financial officer). Accounting is

w The finance function within a company’s organisation
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Business organisational structures

managed by the financial controller (or chief accountant), and cash and corporate finance
may be managed by a corporate treasurer (or financial manager), and they both report to the
finance director. Historically, the IT function (information technology or data processing) has
also been the responsibility of the finance director in the majority of companies. This is because
the accounting function was the first major user of computers for payroll and then accounting
ledgers, financial reporting, budgeting, financial information, etc. In most large companies the
IT function, including communications generally, has become a separate responsibility under
an IT director. In the same way, the responsibility for the payroll function has moved away from
the finance function to being the responsibility of the HR (human resources) director.

Accounting

The original, basic purposes of accounting were to classify and record monetary transactions 4l
and present the financial results of the activities of an entity, in other words the scorecard that
shows how the business is doing. As the business and economic environment has become more
complex the accounting profession has evolved, and accounting techniques have been devel-

oped for use in a much broader business context. To look at the current nature of accounting

and the broad purposes of accounting systems we need to consider the three questions these

days generally answered by accounting information:

m how are we doing, and are we doing well or badly? a scorecard (like scoring a
game of cricket, for example)

m which problems should be looked at? attention-directing

m which is the best alternative for doing a job? problem-solving

Although accountants and the accounting profession have retained their fundamental roles
they have grown into various branches of the profession, which have developed their own spe-
cialisms and responsibilities.

The accounting system is a part of the information system within an organisation. Account-
ing also exists as a service function, which ensures that the financial information that is pre-
sented meets the needs of the users of financial information. To achieve this, accountants must
not only ensure that information is accurate, reliable and timely, but also that it is relevant for
the purpose for which it is being provided, consistent for comparability, and easily understood
(see Figure 1.4).

In order to be useful to the users of financial information, the accounting data from which it
is prepared, together with its analysis and presentation, must be:

accurate — free from error of content or principle

reliable — representing the information that users believe it represents

timely — available in time to support decision-making

relevant — applicable to the purpose required, for example a decision regarding a future

event or to support an explanation of what has already happened

m consistent — the same methods and standards of measurement of data and presentation of
information to allow like-for-like comparison

m clear — capable of being understood by those for whom the information has been prepared.

Progress check 1.4

What are the main purposes of accounting?
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w Features of useful financial information

reliability

relevance

The provision of a great deal of financial information is mandatory; it is needed to comply
with, for example, the requirements of Acts of Parliament and HMRC. However, there is a cost
of providing information that has all the features that have been described, which therefore
renders it potentially useful information. The benefits from producing information, in addi-
tion to mandatory information, should therefore be considered and compared with the cost of
producing that information to decide on which information is ‘really’ required.

Accountants may be employed by accounting firms, which provide a range of accounting-
related services to individuals, companies, public services, and other organisations. Alterna-
tively, accountants may be employed within companies, public services, and other organisa-
tions. Accounting firms may specialise in audit, corporate taxation, personal taxation, value
added tax (VAT), or consultancy (see the right-hand column of Figure 1.5). Accountants
within businesses, public service organisations etc., may be employed in the main functions
of financial accounting, management accounting, and treasury management (see the
left-hand column of Figure 1.5), and also in general management. Accounting skills may also
be required in the area of financial management (or the management of corporate finance),
which may also include treasury management. Within companies this may include respon-
sibility for investments, and the management of cash and interest and foreign currency risk.
External to companies this may include advice relating to mergers and acquisitions, and stock
exchange flotations, or initial public offerings (IPOs).

Progress check 1.5

Does all accounting data provide useful financial information?
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Financial accounting is primarily concerned with the first question answered by accounting
information, the scorecard function. Taking a car-driving analogy, financial accounting makes
greater use of the rear-view mirror than the windscreen; financial accounting is primarily con-
cerned with historical information.

Financial accounting is the function responsible in general for the reporting of financial
information to the owners of a business, and specifically for preparation of the periodic exter-
nal reporting of financial information, statutorily required, for shareholders. It also provides
similar information as required for government and other interested third parties, such as
potential investors, employees, lenders, suppliers, customers, and financial analysts. Financial
accounting is concerned with the three key financial statements: the balance sheet; income <
statement; statement of cash flows. It assists in ensuring that financial statements are <l
included in published reports and accounts in a way that provides ease of analysis and inter-
pretation of company performance.

The role of financial accounting is therefore concerned with maintaining the scorecard for
the entity. Financial accounting is concerned with the classification and recording of the mon-
etary transactions of an entity in accordance with established accounting concepts, prin- <@
ciples, accounting standards, and legal requirements. These transactions are presented and <l
reported in income statements, balance sheets, and statements of cash flow, during and at the
end of an accounting period. Within most companies, the financial accounting role usually <l
involves much more than the preparation of the three main financial statements. A great deal
of analysis is required to support such statements and to prepare information both for inter-
nal management and in preparation for the annual audit by the company’s external auditor. 4l
This includes sales revenue analyses, bank reconciliations, and analyses of various types of
expenditure.

A typical finance department in a medium- to large-sized company has the following addi-
tional functions within the financial accounting role: control of accounts payable to suppliers <l
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(the purchase ledger); control of accounts receivable from customers (the sales ledger). The
financial accounting role also includes the responsibility for the control of non-current assets,
inventory control, and traditionally included responsibility for payroll, whether processed
internally or by an external agency. However, most companies these days elect to transfer the
responsibility for payroll to the personnel, or human resources department (bringing with it
the possibility of loss of internal control).

The breadth of functions involved in financial accounting can require the processing of high
volumes of data relating to purchase invoices, supplier payments, sales invoices, receipts from
customers, other cash transactions, petty cash, employee expense claims, and payroll data. The
control and monitoring of these functions therefore additionally requires a large number of
reports generated by the accounting systems, for example:

m analysis of accounts receivable: those customers who owe money to the company — by age of
debt

m analysis of accounts payable: those suppliers to whom the company owes money — by age of
invoice

m sales revenue analyses

m cheque and electronic payments

m records of non-current assets

m invoice lists.

Past performance is never a totally reliable basis for predicting the future. However, the vast

amount of data required for the preparation of financial statements, and maintenance of the

further subsidiary accounting functions, provides an indispensable source of data for use in

another branch of accounting, namely management accounting. Management accounting is

primarily concerned with the provision of information to managers within the organisation for

product costing, planning and control, and decision-making, and is to a lesser extent involved

in providing information for external reporting.

The functions of management accounting are wide and varied. Whereas financial account-
ing is primarily concerned with past performance, management accounting makes use of his-
torical data, but focuses almost entirely on the present and the future. Management account-
ing is involved with the scorecard role of accounting, but in addition is particularly concerned
with the other two areas of accounting, namely problem-solving and attention-directing.
These include cost analysis, decision-making, sales pricing, forecasting, and planning and
budgeting.

Progress check 1.6

What roles are included within the accounting function?

Financial management

The discipline of corporate finance has its roots in economics, although it also uses many of
the techniques used in accounting. Financial management (or the management of corporate
finance) is broadly defined as the management of all the processes associated with the efficient
acquisition and deployment of both short- and long-term financial resources. The financial man-
agement role assists an organisation’s operations management to reach its financial objectives.
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This includes, for example, evaluation of investment opportunities, responsibility for treasury
management, which is concerned with the management and control of cash, relationships with
banks and other financial institutions, the management of interest rate and foreign currency
exchange rate risk, and credit control. The cashier function includes responsibility for cash pay-
ments, cash receipts, managers’ expenses, petty cash, etc.

The management of an organisation generally involves the three overlapping and inter-
linking roles of strategic management, risk management, and operations management.
Financial management supports these roles to enable management to achieve the financial
objectives of the shareholders. The corporate finance function assists in the way that financial
results are reported to the users of financial information, for example shareholders, lenders,
and employees.

The responsibility of the finance function for managing corporate finance includes the set-
ting up and running of reporting and control systems, raising and managing funds, investment,
the management of relationships with financial institutions, and the use of information and
analysis to advise management regarding planning, policy, and capital investment. The over-
riding requirement of the corporate finance function is to ensure that the financial objectives of
the company are in line with the interests of the shareholders, the primary objective being to
maximise shareholder wealth.

The finance function therefore includes both accounting and corporate finance, which inevi-
tably overlap in some areas. Financial management includes the management and control of
corporate funds, in line with company policy. This includes the management of banking rela-
tionships, borrowings, and investment. Treasury management may also include the use of the
various financial instruments, which may be used to hedge the risk to the business of changes
in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, and advising on how company strategy
may be developed to benefit from changes in the economic environment and the market in
which the business operates.

Progress check 1.7

In what way does corporate finance and the financial management function use accounting
information?

Worked example 1.2

A friend of yours is thinking about pursuing a career in finance and would like some views
on the major differences between accounting and the management of corporate finance
(financial management).

The following notes provide a summary that identifies the key differences.

Accounting: The financial accounting function deals with the recording of past and
current transactions, usually with the aid of computerised accounting systems. Of the
various reports prepared, the key reports for external users include the income state-
ment, balance sheet, and statement of cash flows. In a plc, such reports must be prepared
at least every six months, and must comply with current legal, accounting, and reporting
requirements.
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The management accounting function works alongside the financial accounting func-
tion, using a number of the day-to-day financial accounting reports from the accounting
system. Management accounting is concerned largely with looking at current issues and
problems, and the future in terms of decision-making and forecasting, for example the
consideration of ‘what if’ scenarios during the course of preparation of plans and budgets.
Management accounting outputs are mainly for internal users, with much confidential
reporting, for example to the directors of the company.

Financial management: The financial management function includes responsibility
for corporate finance and the treasury function. Corporate finance includes the manage-
ment and control of corporate funds, within parameters specified by the board of directors.
The role includes the management of company borrowings, investment of surplus funds,
the management of both interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risk, and giving
advice on economic and market changes and the exploitation of opportunities. This func-
tion is not necessarily staffed by accountants. Plcs report on the treasury activities of the
company in their periodic reporting and financial review.

The press extract below, which appeared in the Manchester Evening News, relates to Manchester-
based McBride plc, a leading supplier of private label household and personal care products.
Falling operating profits linked to increasing raw material prices together with a weakened
euro triggered a restructuring programme. The elements of the programme were supply chain
restructuring and renegotiation of long-term contracts allied with ‘operational excellence’ ini-
tiatives, which by early 2012 had already generated £1m savings through implementing lean
manufacturing processes at five sites across Europe.

There are inevitably extra costs associated with restructuring programmes, but once the
cost savings begin to take effect the improvements justify the exceptional costs. McBride’s
restructuring programme illustrates some of the important applications of financial manage-
ment, which include:

planning activities

negotiations with key suppliers

evaluation of investments in new future prospects
review of current market trends and costs.

Progress check 1.8

What are the main differences between accounting and corporate finance?

Financial statements

Limited companies produce financial statements for each accounting period to provide
information about how the company has been doing. There are three main financial
statements — balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows. Companies are
obliged to provide financial statements at each year end to provide information for their
shareholders, HMRC, and the Registrar of Companies.
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Financial management in action

Revenues Were boosted by three per
cent growth in UK sales to £163.5m, with
four per cent growth in western Europe to
£211.4m and five per cent in eastern Europe
to £71.3m. McBride, which supplies retail-
ers across Europe, has its UK headquarters
and main factory in Middleton, Greater
Manchester. McBride said all of its three
European divisions had achieved growth in
the first six months of its financial year and
that raw material prices had stabilised since
the middle of 2011.

A key focus for the business is new prod-
uct development, and it was working closely
with retailers on that. Mr Bull said: ‘By
investing in product innovation and improv-
ing our competitiveness, We expect to be
able to continue to take market share.’

McBride will maintain an interim divi-

dend of 2p per share. Tts shares were up
3.75p, or 3.09 per cent, to 125.25p on the
news.
Analyst Nicola Mallard, of Investec
Securities, said: ‘Operational changes in
the group’s factories have produced savings.
Market share growth should help support
underlying revenue growth for McBride.

Sales at shampoo to mouthwash maker
McBride grew by four per cent in the
six months to December 31 but one-off
costs pushed it into a £400,000 pre-tax loss.
Revenues for the period were up to £423.1m
from £407.9m.

The firm, which specialises in making
private label products for supermarkets, was
hit by a £6.3m exceptional charge following
a supply chain restructuring programme.
McBride said its margins had remained
under pressure from high raw materials
costs, but a restructuring, including the
closure of its Burnley factory, would create
savings of around £5m in the current year.
That closure will see 12 production lines
relocated to its factories in Middleton,
Greater Manchester and Bradford, which
was on track to be completed by the end of
March. McBride’s Middleton factory pro-
duced record volumes in December, which
chief executive Chris Bull said would con-
tinue to grow. He said: ‘The restructuring
is all about reducing costs, not capacity. We
have seen the development of the private
label market across Europe, particularly in
the household goods sector. Once consum-
ers try private label, they stick with it. Con-
sumers are looking for value, and retailers
are getting behind their own products as

they look to differentiate themselves.’

Source:  Revenues  Up put restructuring
programme pushes McBride into loss, by James
Ferguson © Manchester Evening News, 10 February
2012
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The balance sheet comprises a number of categories, within the three main elements (see

> Figure 1.6), which are labelled assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity (usually referred to

1y

as just equity). The balance sheet is always in balance so that:

total assets (TA) = equity (E) + total liabilities (TL)

The balance sheet is a summary of all the accounts of the business in which the total assets
equal the shareholders’ equity plus total liabilities. Figure 8.3 in Chapter 8 shows an example
of a typical balance sheet for Flatco plc as at 31 December 2012.

Whereas the balance sheet is the financial snapshot at a moment in time — the ‘pause’ on
the DVD movie - the two other financial statements, the income statement and statement of
cash flows, are the equivalent of what is going on throughout the accounting period — the ‘play’
mode on the DVD movie.

Valuation of assets

The question of valuation of assets at a specific balance sheet date arises in respect of choosing
the most accurate methods relating to non-current assets, inventories and receivables (and
similarly payables), which support the fundamental requirement to give a true and fair view.
Companies must be very careful to ensure that their assets are valued in a way that realisti-
cally reflects their ability to generate future cash flows. This applies to both current assets
such as inventories, and non-current assets such as land and buildings. The balance sheets of
companies rarely reflect either the current market values of non-current assets, or their future
earnings potential, since they are based on historical costs.
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During 2008 the house building market suffered greatly as property prices fell and the
demand for new housing diminished. We saw several house builders failing or being the
subject of takeover bids. One of the UK’s largest house builders, Persimmon, recorded a
loss of £780m in 2008. However, in 2009 they reported a profit of £77.8m.

In 2008 Persimmon had written down the value of the land they held by £664.1m, which
largely explained the huge loss for that year. In 2009, following a review of the value of the
company’s land, the directors decided to reverse £74.8m of these write-offs, which was
added back to profit. Directors of companies must take care in such valuation increases that
reflect the impact of property price inflation, which may not be sustained, and which ignore
the future earning potential of the assets. The effect on Persimmon was that the share-
holders, and the market, were delighted at the tremendous reversal in fortunes in the year,
particularly as rival house builder Taylor Wimpey reported a £640m pre-tax loss in 2009.

Differences between the methods chosen to value various assets (and liabilities) at the end
of accounting periods may have a significant impact on the results reported in the income state-
ment for those periods. Examples of this may be seen in:

non-current assets and depreciation

inventories valuations and cost of sales

valuations of trade payables and trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies
provisions for doubtful debts.

The rules applicable to the valuation of balance sheet items are laid down in the international
accounting standards and UK financial reporting standards (IASs, IFRSs, and FRSs). These rules
require companies to prepare their financial statements under the historical cost convention
(the gross value of the asset being the purchase price or production cost), or alternative conven-
tions of historical cost modified to include certain assets at a revalued amount or current cost.

Under alternative conventions, the gross value of the asset is either the market value at the
most recent valuation date or its current cost: tangible non-current assets should be valued at
market value or at current cost; investments (non-current assets) are valued at market value
or at any value considered appropriate by the directors; short-term investments are valued at
current cost; inventories are valued at current cost. If a reduction in value of any non-current
assets is expected to be permanent then provision for this must be made. The same applies to
investments even if the reduction is not expected to be permanent.

Non-current assets with finite lives are subject to depreciation charges. Current assets must
be written down to the amount for which they could be disposed of (their net realisable
value), if that value is lower than cost or an alternative valuation. It should be noted that
provisions for reductions in value no longer considered necessary must be written back to the
profit and loss account.

There is an element of choice between alternative valuation methods that may be adopted by
businesses. Because of this, difficulties may arise in trying to provide consistent comparisons of
the performance of companies even within the same industrial sectors. If changes in account-
ing policies have been introduced, further inconsistencies arise in trying to provide a realistic
comparison of just one company’s performance between one accounting period and another.

an|
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Income statement

The income statement (or statement of financial performance) is a financial statement that sum-
marises the total of all the accounts included within the profit and loss account section of the
general ledger. Profit (or loss) may be considered in two ways, which both give the same result.

The income statement is an indication of the change in the book wealth of the business
over a period. The book wealth of the business is the amount it is worth to the owners, the
shareholders. The accumulation of the total change in wealth since the business began, up
to a particular point in time, is reflected within the equity section of the balance sheet under
the heading ‘retained earnings’. Retained earnings are the accumulated profits of the business
minus amount deducted in respect of dividends. Using the DVD analogy, the income statement
measures the change in the balance sheet from one ‘pause’ to another. An increase in equity is
a profit and a decrease in equity is a loss.

The income statement is more usually considered in its measurement of the trading per-
formance of the business (see Figure 1.7). The income statement calculates whether or not
the company has made a profit or loss on its operations during the period, through produc-
ing and selling its goods or services. The result, the earnings, net income or profit (or loss),
is derived from deducting expenses incurred from revenues derived throughout the period
between two ‘pauses’. Retained earnings for the period is net profit for the period, less divi-
dends.

The profit and loss account comprises the total of the expenses (debits) accounts and rev-
enues (credits) accounts within the general ledger. The total of these may be a net debit or a net
credit. A net debit represents a loss and a net credit represents a profit. The profit or loss, net
of dividends, is reflected in the balance sheet of the business under the heading retained earn-
ings, which is part of shareholders’ equity. All the other accounts within the general ledger,
other than expenses and revenues, may be summarised into various other non-profit and loss
account categories and these represent all the other balances that complete the overall balance
sheet of the business.

| Figure 1.7 The main elements of the income statement

revenues,
sales or income

expenses, costs
or expenditure
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Figure 8.4 in Chapter 8 shows an example of a typical income statement for Flatco plc for the
year ended 31 December 2012.

There are three main points to consider regarding the income statement and how it differs
from the statement of cash flows. First, revenues (or sales revenues, or income) and expenses
(or costs, or expenditure) are not necessarily accounted for at the same time as when cash is
paid or received. Sales revenues are normally accounted for when goods or services are deliv-
ered and accepted by the customer. Cash will rarely be received immediately from the cus-
tomer, except in businesses like high-street retailers and supermarkets; it is normally received
weeks or months later.

Second, the income statement does not take into account all the events that impact on the
financial position of the company. For example, an issue of new shares in the company, or a 4
loan to the company, will increase cash but they are neither revenue nor expenses.

Third, non-cash flow items, for example depreciation and provisions for doubtful debts,
reduce the profit, or increase the loss, of the company but do not represent outflows of
cash.

Therefore it can be seen that net profit is not the same as cash flow. A company may get into
financial difficulties if it suffers a severe cash shortage even though it may have positive net <
earnings (profit).

Statement of cash flows

Between them, the balance sheet and income statement show a company’s financial position
at the beginning and at the end of an accounting period and how the profit or loss has been
achieved during that period.

The balance sheet and income statement do not show or directly analyse some of the key
changes that have taken place in the company’s financial position, for example:

m how much capital expenditure (for example, equipment, machinery and buildings) has the
company made, and how did it fund the expenditure?

m what was the extent of new borrowing and how much debt was repaid? )

® how much did the company need to fund new working capital (which includes, for exam-  <ami
ple, an increase in trade receivables and inventories as a result of increased business an
activity)?

m how much of the company’s funding was met by funds generated from its trading activities,
and how much by new external funding (for example, from banks and other lenders, or new
shareholders)?

The income statement and the statement of cash flows are the two ‘DVD movies’ which are
running in parallel between the two ‘pauses’ — the balance sheets at the start and the finish
of an accounting period. However, the statement of cash flows goes further in answering the
questions like those shown above. The aim of the statement of cash flows is to summarise the
cash inflows and outflows and calculate the net change in the cash position of the company
throughout the period between two ‘pauses’.

Figure 1.8 shows the main elements of a statement of cash flows, and Figures 8.6 and 8.7 in
Chapter 8 are examples of a typical statement of cash generated from operations and a state-
ment of cash flows for Flatco plc for the year ended 31 December 2012.
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Worked example 1.3

Fred Osborne, a graduate trainee in the finance department of a large engineering group,
pursued his finance studies with enthusiasm. Although Fred was more interested in busi-
ness planning and getting involved with new development projects, his job and his stud-
ies required him to become totally familiar with, and to be able to prepare, the financial
statements of a company. Fred was explaining the subject of financial statements and
what they involve to a friend of his, Jack, another graduate trainee in human resources.

Fred explained the subject of financial statements to Jack, bearing in mind that he is
very much a non-financial person.

Limited companies are required to produce three main financial statements for each
accounting period with information about company performance for:

shareholders

HMRC

banks

City analysts
investing institutions
the public in general.

The three key financial statements are the:

(a) Dbalance sheet
(b) income statement
(c¢) statement of cash flows.
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(a) Balance sheet: a financial snapshot at a moment in time, or the financial posi-
tion of the company comparable with pressing the ‘pause’ button on a DVD
player. The DVD movie in ‘play’ mode shows what is happening as time goes on
second by second, but when you press ‘pause’ the DVD stops on a picture; the
picture does not tell you what has happened over the period of time up to the
pause (or what is going to happen after the pause). The balance sheet is the con-
sequence of everything that has happened up to the balance sheet date. It does
not explain how the company got to that position.

(b) Income statement: this is like a DVD movie in ‘play’ mode. It is used to calculate
whether or not the company has made a gain or deficit on its operations during
the period, its financial performance, through producing and selling its goods or
services. Net earnings or net profit is calculated from revenues derived through-
out the period between two ‘pauses’, minus costs incurred in deriving those
revenues.

(c) Statement of cash flows: this is the DVD movie again in ‘play’ mode, but net
earnings is not the same as cash flow, since revenues and costs are not neces-
sarily accounted for when cash transfers occur. Sales are accounted for when
goods or services are delivered and accepted by the customer but cash may not
be received until some time later. The income statement does not reflect non-
trading events like an issue of shares or a loan that will increase cash but are
not revenues or costs. The statement of cash flows summarises cash inflows and
cash outflows and calculates the net change in the cash position for the company
throughout the period between two ‘pauses’.

The reporting of financial information

The information provided by plcs in particular is frequently used by City analysts, invest-
ing institutions, and the public in general. After each year end, plcs prepare their annual <
report and accounts for their shareholders. Copies of the annual report and accounts are
filed with the Registrar of Companies and copies are available to other interested parties
such as financial institutions, major suppliers, and other investors. In addition to the income
statement and statement of cash flows for the year and the balance sheet as at the year-end
date, the annual report and accounts includes notes to the accounts, accounting policies, <
and much more financial and non-financial information such as company policies, financial
indicators, corporate governance compliance, directors’ remuneration, employee numbers,
business analysis, and segmental analysis. The annual report also includes the chief execu-
tive’s review of the business, a report by the auditors of the company, and the chairman’s
statement.

The auditors’ report states compliance or otherwise with accounting and financial
reporting standards and that the accounts are free from material misstatement, and that
they give a true and fair view prepared on the assumption that the company is a going con-
cern. The chairman’s statement offers an opportunity for the chairman of the company to
report in unquantified and unaudited terms on the performance of the company during the
past financial period and on likely future developments. However, the auditors would object
if there was anything in the chairman’s statement that was inconsistent with the audited
accounts.
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In theory, the balance sheet of a private limited company or a plc should tell us all about the
company’s financial structure and liquidity — the extent to which its assets and liabilities are
held in cash or in a near cash form (for example, bank accounts and deposits). It should also
tell us about the assets held by the company, the proportion of current assets, and the extent
to which they may be used to meet current obligations. However, an element of caution should
be noted in analysing balance sheet information. The balance sheet is a historical document. It
may have looked entirely different six months or a year ago, or even one week ago. There is not
always consistency between the information included in one company’s balance sheet and that
of another company. Two companies even within the same industry are usually very difficult to
compare. Added to that, different analysts very often use alternative calculations for financial
ratios or use them in different ways. In addition to the wide choice of valuation methods, the
information in a typical published balance sheet does not tell us anything about the quality of
the assets, their real value in money terms or their value to the business.

The audit report provided by external auditors in a company’s annual report and accounts
normally states that they represent a true and fair view of the business. For a number of rea-
sons, which we will discuss in Chapter 3, companies’ reports and accounts may not in fact repre-
sent a true and fair view and may hide fraudulent activities or may have been subjected to some
creative accounting, such as off balance sheet financing and window dressing. Off balance
sheet financing relates to the funding of operations in such a way that the relevant assets and
liabilities are not disclosed in the balance sheet of the company concerned. Window dressing
is a practice in which changes in short-term funding have the effect of disguising or improving
the reported liquidity (cash and near cash) position of the reporting organisation. The auditors
of WorldCom and Enron stated that their reports and accounts provided a true and fair view of
those businesses. The reality was somewhat different, as we can see from Mini cases 1.2 and 1.3.

WorldCom was one of the world’s largest telecommunications companies with 20 mil-
lion consumer customers, thousands of corporate clients and 80,000 employees. During
2001/2002 WorldCom improperly recorded US$3.8bn as capital expenditure instead of
operating expenditure, which distorted its reported cash flow and profit. In reality, World-
Com should have reported a loss instead of US$1.4bn net income in 2002. WorldCom’s
accounting irregularities were thought to have begun in 2000. Instead of accounting for
expenses when they were incurred, WorldCom hid the expenses by pushing them into the
future, giving the appearance of spending less and therefore making more profit.

This apparent profitability obviously pleased Wall Street analysts and investors, which
was reflected in increases in the WorldCom share price up until the accounting irregu-
larities were discovered. WorldCom filed for bankruptcy, and many of the directors and
employees subsequently received custodial sentences for fraud.

The story of Enron, which was guilty of using off balance sheet financing, is complex.
Enron began life as a natural gas company started up by Kenneth Lay. He saw an oppor-
tunity to profit from the deregulation of the gas industry, for which the core business was
established. In its early days Enron did the right things for the right reasons and gained
substantial credibility on Wall Street.
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In its latter years successful operations were replaced with the illusion of success-
ful operations. The business started to use its substantial credibility to sustain operations
through loans to acquire companies on a global basis. In the course of acquiring companies
the enterprise recruited a team of financial market experts whose original function was to
manage operational risks that the company faced. This team became involved in market
speculation and either by luck or perhaps by deception apparently made a lot of money.

The directors of the enterprise that became Enron thought that the profits being made
were dependable. They therefore retained the team of experts, who were then called mar-
ket traders, as an integral part of the company. However, the company also tried to disguise
the nature of the operations of the team. After some initial successes the traders began to
have some financial failures and Enron was no longer really making a profit. The market
traders were really only people who were gambling or speculating for very high stakes, and
became no longer a source of profits for the business but a source of huge losses.

The company, with the assistance of its bankers and its auditors Arthur Andersen, cov-
ered up its losses in a number of ways relating to a manipulation of the rules relating to the
accounting for securities. The company covered its funding shortfalls by borrowing money
in such a way that it was not disclosed in the company’s balance sheet.

The company grew enormously from both domestic and international ventures and
at the same time so did cases of excessive management spending of corporate funds on
unnecessary luxury items. In the years prior to its bankruptcy Enron executives paid for
such luxuries out of company borrowing because it had no real profits, which was there-
fore at the expense of lenders to the company.

Enron eventually went bankrupt. In 2004, Enron’s two key executives, Kenneth Lay and
Jeff Skilling, were tried for fraud and convicted in 2006. Kenneth Lay, before his imprison-
ment, died at the age of 64.

Corporate fraud is by no means confined to the West or to developed economies. There have
also been many examples in developing economies as illustrated in Mini case 1.4 below.

In January 2009 there was considerable surprise when a US$1bn fraud at one of India’s
largest outsourcing companies, Satyam Computer Services, was revealed. The company,
whose name ironically means ‘truth’ in Sanskrit, provided a wide range of services from
handling databases to running payrolls for over one third of the Fortune 500 companies.
From a small operation founded in 1987 the company had grown by 2009 to over 53,000
employees and operated in 66 countries.

Perhaps more surprising was the way in which the fraud was revealed. Although in the
previous year analysts had voiced concerns over some of the aspects of the management
of the company, there was no suggestion of accounting irregularities until the chairman,
Ramalingam Raju, wrote a letter to the Securities & Exchange Board of India explaining
that 50.4bn rupees, or US$1.04bn, of the 53.6bn rupees in cash and bank loans that the
company had listed as assets were in fact non-existent. He also admitted inflating sales
revenues by 76% and profits by 97%. In the letter, Mr Raju explained that ‘what started
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as a marginal gap between actual operating profit and the one reflected in the books of
account continued to grow over the years. It has attained unmanageable proportions as
the size of company operations grew.” The fraud had been running since 2004 and had
gone undetected by auditors who were subsequently fined US$7.5m.

After two years and eight months in prison Mr Raju, along with his brother B Rama
Raju and Satyam’s former chief financial officer, Vadlamani Srinivas, left prison on bail in
November 2011.

Progress check 1.9

What are the three main financial statements reported by a business? How are business
transactions ultimately reflected in financial statements?

Users of financial information

Financial information is important to a wide range of groups both internal and external to the
organisation. Such information is required, for example, by individuals outside the organisation
to make decisions about whether or not to invest in one company or another, or by potential
suppliers who wish to assess the reliability and financial strength of the organisation. It is also
required by managers within the organisation as an aid to decision-making. The main users of
financial information are shown in Figure 1.9, and are discussed in Worked example 1.4.

Worked example 1.4

Kevin Green, a trainee accountant, has recently joined the finance department of a newly
formed public limited company. Kevin has been asked to work with the company’s audi-
tors who have been commissioned to prepare some alternative formats for the company’s
annual report.

As part of his preparation for this, Kevin’s manager has asked him to prepare a draft
report about who is likely to use the information contained in the annual report, and how
they might use such information.

Kevin’s preparatory notes for his report included the following:

m Competitors as part of their industry competitive analysis studies, to look at market
share and financial strength

m Customers to determine the ability to provide a regular, reliable supply of goods and
services, and to assess customer dependence

m Employees to assess the potential for providing continued employment and assess lev-
els of remuneration

m General public to assess general employment opportunities, social, political and envir-
onmental issues, and to consider potential for investment

m Government corporate taxation and value added tax (VAT), government statistics,
grants and financial assistance, monopolies and mergers
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m Investment analysts investment potential for individuals and institutions with regard
to past and future performance, strength of management, risk versus reward

m Lenders the capacity and the ability of the company to service debt and repay capital

B Managers/directors to a certain extent an aid to decision-making, but such relevant
information should already have been available internally

m Shareholders/investors a tool of accountability to maintain a check on how effect-
ively the directors/managers are running the business, and to assess the financial
strength and future developments

m Suppliers to assess the long-term viability and whether the company is able to meet its
obligations and pay suppliers on an ongoing basis.

Progress check 1.10

How many users of financial information can you think of and in what ways do you think
they may use this information?

m Users of financial and accounting information
shareholders/
investors

managers/
directors

investment
analysts
government

employees

general
public
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Accountability and financial reporting

The directors of a company are appointed by the shareholders to manage the business on their
behalf. The accountability of the directors is maintained by reporting on the financial per-
formance and the financial position of the company to shareholders on both a yearly and an
interim (half-yearly) basis. The reporting made in the form of the financial statements includes
the balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows.

Corporate executives may seek to deceive the public and shareholders for a number of rea-
sons. The longer the deception continues the more extreme their responses may become
to keep the truth hidden and potentially the greater the impact when the facts become
known.

In October 2011, Japanese camera and medical equipment manufacturer Olympus lost
two presidents, saw its share price plummet by almost 75%, and came under investigation
from regulators and enforcement agencies. The cause was the company’s CEO and presi-
dent Michael Woodford who raised the issue of irregular payments and poor investments
surrounding four acquisitions of start-up companies made in 2006 and 2008.

The value of three companies acquired for a total of US$773m had been written down
to amere US$187m in 2009. The majority of the purchase money went to Cayman Islands-
based companies that were dissolved or closed down shortly after receiving the money. In
the final acquisition of a UK medical company, Gyrus, Olympus allegedly paid US$687m in
fees to two advisory companies on the purchase worth US$2bn. On this value an expected
advisory fee would be around US$40m.

News of these transactions had been picked up by the Japanese media and this led
Mr Woodford to carry out an investigation. In October 2011 he advised Olympus chairman
Tsuyoshi Kikukawa to resign as a result of the dealings. In response, three days later
Mr Woodford was sacked from his post.

The company line on the dismissal as given by Mr Kikukawa was that Mr Woodford was
removed from his post in a unanimous vote due to cultural clashes, and an inability on the
part of the CEO to appreciate the subtle nuances of Japanese business.

Following his dismissal Mr Woodford assessed the overall loss to shareholders at
US$1.2bn and told reporters, ‘The whole board is contaminated and that company needs
to be cleaned out. The whole board have had discussions and vote unanimously and no
one asks anything. It’s just complete and utter obedience to Kikukawa.’

In January 2012, the company absolved the external auditors of any blame in the matter
but suggested there were deficiencies in the performance of the internal audit procedures.
Meanwhile, the on-going investigations engendered by the revelations of the Japanese
press and Mr Woodford led prosecutors in Tokyo in February to arrest the, by then, ex-
President Tsuyoshi Kikukawa, former Executive Vice President Hisashi Mori and former
auditor Hideo Yamada on suspicion of violating the Financial Instruments and Exchange
Law. Following the arrests, the Independent newspaper reported that the three former
executives had been identified by an investigative panel, commissioned by Olympus, as
the main culprits in the fraud, seeking to delay the reckoning from risky investments made
in the late 1980s economic bubble.
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There are guidelines, or standards, which have been developed by the accountancy profes-
sion to ensure truth, fairness and consistency in the preparation and presentation of financial
information.

A number of bodies have been established to draft accounting policy, set accounting stand-
ards, and to monitor compliance with standards and the provisions of the Companies Act. The
Financial Reporting Council (FRC), whose chairman and deputy chairman are appointed <l
by the Secretary of State for Business, Innovation and Skills, develops accounting standards
policy and gives guidance on issues of public concern.

The FRC is divided into two committees: the Codes and Standards Committee (CSC); and
the Conduct Committee. The CSC comprises three Councils: Accounting, Actuarial, and Audit
and Assurance, of which the Accounting Council is responsible for consideration and advice <l
to the FRC on the development of draft codes and standards and changes to existing codes and
standards.

The accounting standards are called Financial Reporting Standards (FRSs). Up to 1990 the <
accounting standards were known as Statements of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAPs), 4
and were issued by the Accounting Standards Committee (ASC). The ASC was replaced by
the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) and this board was subsequently replaced by the <
Accounting Council on 2 July 2012. Although some SSAPs have now been withdrawn there
are, in addition to the new FRSs, a large number of SSAPs that are still in force.

The Accounting Council also deals with any urgent issues relating to accounting standards
when there are conflicts with new practice or events occur which render current standards insuf-
ficient to comply with EU legislation or emerging business practices. The Accounting Council
took over this role on its formation from the so-called Urgent Issues Task Force (UITF) which had
dealt with such matters since 1990. It was announced that a new committee would be formed to
handle such matters but at the time of writing this book this committee had not yet been set up.

The Conduct Committee comprises two other committees: the Monitoring Committee; the
Case Management Committee. The Monitoring Committee, as part of its duties, is responsible
for the Financial Reporting Review Panel (FRRP), which reviews comments and complaints
from users of financial information. It enquires into the annual accounts of companies where
it appears that the requirements of the Companies Act, including the requirement that annual
accounts shall show a true and fair view, might have been breached. The Stock Exchange rules
covering financial disclosure of publicly quoted companies require such companies to comply
with accounting standards and reasons for non-compliance must be disclosed.

Pressure groups, organisations and individuals may also have influence on the provisions of
the Companies Act and FRSs (and SSAPs). These may include some UK Government depart-
ments (for example HMRC and the Office of Fair Trading) in addition to the Department for
Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) and employer organisations such as the Confederation of
British Industry (CBI), and professional bodies like the Law Society, Institute of Directors, and
the Chartered Management Institute.

There are therefore many diverse influences on the form and content of company accounts.

In addition to legislation, standards are continually being refined, updated and replaced and
further enhanced by various codes of best practice. As a response to this the UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Practices (UK GAAP), first published in 1989, includes all practices that
are considered to be permissible or legitimate, either through support by statute, accounting
standard or official pronouncement, or through consistency with the needs of users and of
meeting the fundamental requirement to present a true and fair view, or even simply through
authoritative support in the accounting literature. UK GAAP is therefore a dynamic concept,
which changes in response to changing circumstances.
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Within the scope of current legislation, best practice, and accounting and financial report-
ing standards, each company needs to develop its own specific accounting policies. Accounting
policies are the specific accounting bases selected and consistently followed by an entity as
being, in the opinion of the management, appropriate to its circumstances and best suited to
present fairly its results and financial position. Examples are the various alternative methods
of valuing inventories of materials, or charging the cost of a machine over its useful life, that
is, its depreciation.

You may question why all the accounting and financial reporting regulation that we have
discussed in the earlier sections of this chapter is necessary at all. Well, there are a number of
arguments in favour of such regulation:

m Itisveryimportant that the credibility of financial statement reporting is maintained so that
actual and potential investors are protected as far as possible against inappropriate account-
ing practices.

m Generally, being able to distinguish between the good and not-so-good companies also pro-
vides some stability in the financial markets.

m The auditors of companies must have some rules on which to base their true and fair view of
financial position and financial performance, which they give to the shareholders and other
users of the financial statements.

External auditors are appointed by, and report independently to, the shareholders. They are
professionally qualified accountants who are required to provide objective verification to
shareholders and other users that the financial statements have been prepared properly and
in accordance with legislative and regulatory requirements; that they present the information
truthfully and fairly; and that they conform to the best accounting practice in their treatment
of the various measurements and valuations. The purpose of the audit is defined in ISA 200
(International Standard on Auditing 200) in the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs)
as ‘to enhance the degree of confidence of intended users in the financial statements. This is
achieved by the expression of an opinion by the auditor on whether the financial statements
are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with an applicable financial reporting
framework’.

The financial reporting of the company includes preparation of the financial statements,
notes and reports, which are audited and given an opinion on by the external auditors. A regu-
latory framework exists to see fair play, the responsibility for which is held jointly by the gov-
ernment and the private sector, including the accountancy profession and the Stock Exchange.

The UK Government exercises influence through bodies such as the Department of Busi-
ness, Innovation and Skills (BIS) and through Parliament by the enactment of legislation,
for example the Companies Act. Such legal regulation began with the Joint Stock Compa-
nies Act 1844. Subsequent statutes exerted greater influence on company reporting: the
Companies Acts 1948, 1967, and 1981. The provisions included in these Acts were consoli-
dated into the Companies Act 2006. The Companies Act 2006 contains the overall current
legal framework.

The International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) set up in 1973, which is
supported by each of the major professional accounting bodies, fosters the harmonisation of
accounting standards internationally. To this end each UK FRS includes a section explaining its
relationship to any relevant international accounting standard.

There are wide variations in the accounting practices that have been developed in different
countries. These reflect the purposes for which financial information is required by the differ-
ent users of that information, in each of those countries. There is a different focus on the type
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of information and the relative importance of each of the users of financial information in each
country. This is because each country may differ in terms of:

m who finances the businesses — individual equity shareholders, institutional equity share-
holders, debenture holders, banks, etc.

m tax systems, either aligned with or separate from accounting rules

m the level of government control and regulation

m the degree of transparency of information.

The increase in international trade and globalisation has led to a need for convergence, or
harmonisation, of accounting rules and practices. The IASC was created in order to develop
international accounting standards, but these have been slow in appearing because of the dif-
ficulties in bringing together differences in accounting procedures. Until 2000 these standards
were called International Accounting Standards (IASs). The successor to the IASC, the <l
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) was set up in April 2001 to make finan- <l
cial statements more comparable on a worldwide basis. The IASB publishes its standards in a
series of pronouncements called International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). Ithas 4
also adopted the body of standards issued by the IASC, which continue to be designated IASs.

The former chairman of the IASB, Sir David Tweedie, has said that ‘the aim of the globali-
sation of accounting standards is to simplify accounting practices and to make it easier for
investors to compare the financial statements of companies worldwide’. He also said that ‘this
will break down barriers to investment and trade and ultimately reduce the cost of capital and
stimulate growth’ (Business Week, 7 June 2004).

On 1 January 2005 there was convergence in the mandatory application of the IFRSs
by listed companies within each of the European Union member states. The impact of this
should be negligible with regard to the topics covered in this book, since UK accounting
standards have already moved close to international standards. The reason for this is that the
UK Statement of Principles (SOP) was drawn up using the 1989 IASB conceptual framework
for guidance.

At the time of writing this book, major disagreements between the EU and accountants
worldwide over the influence of the EU on the process of developing International Accounting
Standards are causing concern that the dream of the globalisation of accounting standards may
not be possible.

It may be argued that the increasing amount of accounting regulation itself stifles responses
to changes in economic and business environments, and discourages the development of
improved financial reporting. We have already seen that the development of various concep-
tual frameworks indicates that there is wide disagreement about what constitutes accounting
best practice. The resistance to acceptance of international accounting standards may be for
political reasons, the rules perhaps reflecting the requirements of specific interest groups or
countries.

It is also true that despite increasing accounting regulation there have been an increasing
number of well-publicised financial scandals in the USA in particular, where the accounting
systems are very much ‘rule-based’, as well as in the UK, Italy, and Japan. However, these scan-
dals have usually been the result of fraudulent activity. This leads to another question as to why
the auditors of such companies did not detect or prevent such fraud. The answer is that, despite
the widespread perception of the general public to the contrary, auditors are not appointed to
detect or prevent fraud. Rather, they are appointed by the shareholders to give their opinion
as to whether the financial statements show a true and fair view and comply with statutory,
regulatory, and accounting and financial reporting standards requirements.
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Progress check 1.11

In what ways may the reliability of financial reporting be ensured?

Worked example 1.5

You are thinking of changing jobs (within marketing) and moving from a local, well-
established retailer that has been in business for over 20 years. You have been asked to
attend an interview at a new plc that started up around two years ago. The plc is a retailer
via the Internet. Your family has suggested that you investigate the company thoroughly
before your interview, paying particular attention to its financial resources. There is a
chance the plc may not be a going concern if its business plan does not succeed.

You will certainly want to include the following questions at your interview.

(a) Are any published accounts available for review?

(b) Whatis the share capital of the company (for example, is it £50,000 or £1,000,000)?
(c¢) Isthe company profitable?

(d) Does the company have loan commitments?

(e) Isthe company working within its bank overdraft facilities?

(f) Are any press analyses of the company available?

(g) What is the current customer base?

The answers may suggest whether the company can continue trading for the foresee-
able future.

Managing corporate finance

The finance function, or more specifically the finance director of a business, has the respon-
sibility for managing the financial resources of the business to meet the objectives of the
business.

The finance director’s corporate finance responsibilities involve:

m raising and controlling the provision of funds for the business

m deciding on the deployment of these funds — the assets, new projects, and operational
expenditure required to increase the value of the business

m controlling the resources of the business to ensure that they are being managed
effectively

® managing financial risks such as exposures relating to movements in interest rates and for-
eign currency exchange rates.

The finance director is also responsible for the accounting function of the business, but it is a
separate and different discipline to corporate finance. The management of corporate finance,
or financial management, draws on the techniques of both financial accounting and manage-
ment accounting, relating to decision-making and financial reporting. However, corporate
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finance is concerned with the future and relates to the management of the financial resources
of the business in order to optimise the returns to investors in the business. In this context the
finance directors must decide on:

m what level of assets should the company have?

m how should investment projects be chosen and how should they be funded?

m in what proportions should the company’s funding be regarding shareholders’ equity and
borrowings?

m what proportions of profit after tax should be paid out in dividends or retained for future
investment?

Accounting may assist in these decisions, for example capital investment appraisal (man-
agement accounting) and the impact on financial statement reporting (financial account-
ing). Therefore, although corporate finance and accounting are both the responsibility of
the finance director, they are separate disciplines with the former very much supported by
the latter.

Progress check 1.12

What are the key responsibilities of the finance director with regard to the financial man-
agement of a business?

Underlying principles of corporate finance

We have seen that corporate finance is about obtaining and managing the financial
resources of a business in order to achieve the objectives of the business. The primary
objective of the business is the maximisation of shareholder wealth, and there are a num-
ber of principles that underpin the decision-making of financial managers in pursuit of this
objective.

Shareholder wealth maximisation

The maximisation of shareholder wealth is the prime objective of the majority of compa-
nies. The reason why investors put funds into a business is to receive returns that are better
than the returns that they may receive from alternative investments. It is the responsi-
bility of the directors of the company to make the optimum use of these funds to ensure
that shareholder returns are maximised. But how do they do this and what is shareholder
wealth?

Shareholder wealth is derived by shareholders from two sources:

m dividends paid on their equity, or ordinary, shares
m capital appreciation from the increase in the price of their ordinary shares.

As illustrated in Mini case 1.6, dividends do not have to be paid by a company. Dividends are
paid out of the profits of the company available for distribution after interest and corporation
tax have been paid, and assuming that the company has sufficient cash for their payment. The
increase in share price is uncertain and depends generally on the demand for the company’s
shares and the volume of dealing activity in those shares.
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Mini case 1.6

In March 2012, Rentokil Initial, a company specialising in pest control and hygiene ser-
vices, announced a dividend for the first time in 3 years.

The accounting year end for Rentokil Initial is 31 December and final dividends are
announced at the beginning of March.

The table below shows the full dividend for the year, the eps (earnings per share), and
share price at the date of the announcement of the final dividend.

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Dividend per 1p share (p) 7.38 0.65 0.00 0.00 1.33
eps (p) 36.20 1.04 2.63 -1.29 -3.84
Share price at announcement (p) 83.00 45.50 128.00 134.80 89.00
P/E ratio 2 44 49 —104 -23

From the table above we can see that the announcement of a dividend may have a
favourable or adverse impact on share price.

A company’s shares may be in demand because prospective share buyers believe that there
are good prospects of future share price increases and/or increased dividend payments. The
reason for such optimism may be that the company has demonstrated its success in investing
in value-creating projects (‘real’ investment) and its ongoing intention of making even greater
value-adding investments. The success of such investments in cash terms will provide the
future cash flow for the payment of dividends and sustained future investment in new projects.

Cash flow

It is the success of investments in new projects that provides the key to future growth in both
dividends and the company’s share price (see Chapter 6). In this context, by success we mean
returns in cash terms over and above the cost of the funds used for those investments and
above the average returns in that particular market. It is cash flow from investments and not
profit that is important here. Profit is an accounting term, which is subjective and open to many
interpretations. Cash is a matter of fact and its measurement is completely objective — you
either have it or you don’t. Real funds can be seen in cash but not in accounting profit. Interest
charges become payable as soon as money is made available, for example, from a lender to a
borrower, not when an agreement is made or when a contract is signed. Therefore, in corporate
finance it is cash flow that is important rather than profit.

Worked example 1.6

Cox Ltd is a local electrical retailer with retail outlets throughout the north of England.
The company is currently considering opening a new temporary retail outlet, and is con-
sidering three alternative development options. As the company’s financial adviser, you
have been asked to evaluate the financial aspects of each of the options and advise which
option the company should select, from a purely cash flow perspective (ignoring the time
value of money, which is discussed in the next section).
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The following financial information has been made available:

Year Option 1 Option 2 Option 3

£000 £000 £000
Investment

0 12,000 12,000 12,000
Cash receipts

1 9,500 3,000 6,000

2 8,500 4,500 6,000

3 3,500 8,000 6,000

4 2,500 8,500 6,000

In cash flow terms all three options provide the same net cash flow, but the timings of
the cash flow receipts differ significantly. Given that the future is invariably uncertain, it
is likely that from a purely cash flow perspective, the rational choice would be to maxi-
mise the cash flows derived earlier rather than later, in which case the selection would
be Option 1.

Time value of money

It is not only the cash flows themselves from investments that are important in terms of their
size but also when they are received. The timing of cash flows, and their certainty of being
received at all are also risks relating to cash flows. This has not been considered at all in
Worked example 1.6.

A receipt of £100 today has greater value than receipt of £100 in one year’s time. Its value
changes over time primarily because:

m the money could have been alternatively invested to receive interest
m purchasing power will have been lost over a year due to inflation.

The percentage rate by which the value of money may be eroded over one year is called the dis-
count rate, and the amount by which the value of money is eroded over one year is calculated by
dividing it by what is called the discount factor [1/(1 + discount rate %)]. The value of money
continues to be reduced by application of the discount factor (or using the appropriate discount
factor if the discount rate has changed); its value therefore normally becomes less and less.
Using this method, a discount factor may be applied to future cash flows to calculate today’s
value of future cash flows. This technique is called discounted cash flow (DCF). It is today’s
value of cash flows, their present values, which are the relevant cash flows with regard to invest-
ments. We will return to DCF in more detail in Chapter 6.

Risk

Increases in shareholder wealth comprise dividends and capital gains from share price
increases, which together are termed returns to shareholders. Interest paid on loans to compa-
nies is called the return to debt-holders, or lenders. The returns from ‘real’ investments in new
assets and projects are the present values of the cash flows derived from the profits from such
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investments. Whichever return we are considering, we are talking specifically about future
expected cash flows from investments. There is a close correlation between the returns and the

level of risk relating to these investments.

An actual return on an investment will never be exactly what was expected — it will be either
higher or lower, better or worse. Risk relates to the possibility that an actual return will be dif-
ferent from an expected return. The more risky an investment, the greater is the possibility that
the return will be different from that expected. The higher the risk of an investment, the higher
will be the expected return; the lower the risk of an investment, the lower will be the expected

return. Throughout this book we will return to risk many times in:

Chapter 5 when we look at the cost of capital — the funds used for investments
Chapter 6 when we look at capital investment decisions

Chapter 7 when we look at the type of funds used by companies — equity or loans
Chapter 9 when we look at financial planning

Chapter 11 when we look at international operations and investment

Chapter 12 when we look at financial risk management

Part Il when we look at financial strategy.

Progress check 1.13

What is meant by shareholder wealth maximisation?

Summary of key points

The four main types of profit-making businesses in the UK are sole traders, partnerships,
limited companies (Ltd), and public limited companies (plc).

The finance function has an important position within an organisation, and includes
responsibility for accounting and corporate finance.

Accountability of directors is maintained by reporting on the financial performance and
the financial position of the company to shareholders on both a yearly and a half-yearly
basis, and the audit function.

Financial statements are produced by companies for each accounting period to provide
information about how the business has been doing.

The three main financial statements that appear within a business’s annual report and
accounts, together with the chairman’s statement, directors’ report, and auditors’ report,
are the balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows.

Corporate finance and accounting are both the responsibility of the finance director, and
although they are separate disciplines corporate finance is very much supported by the
accounting function.

The effective management of corporate finance impacts greatly on how well the com-
pany is able to achieve its primary objective of maximisation of shareholder wealth.

The underlying principles of corporate finance include cash flow (rather than profit), the
time value of money, and the risk and uncertainty relating to future cash flows.
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accounting The classification and recording of monetary transactions, the presentation
and interpretation of the results of those transactions in order to assess performance over
a period and the financial position at a given date, and the monetary projection of future
activities arising from alternative planned courses of action.

Glossary of key terms

accounting concepts The principles underpinning the preparation of accounting informa-
tion. Fundamental accounting concepts are the broad basic assumptions that underlie the
periodic financial accounts of business enterprises.

Accounting Council A UK standard-setting body set up in July 2012 with responsibility for
advising the FRC Board on financial codes and standards to ensure that a high-quality, effect-
ive and proportionate approach is taken and to provide advice on proposed developments in
relation to international codes and standards and regulations. It is a part of the Codes and
Standards Committee of the FRC (see below).

accounting period The time period covered by the accounting statements of an entity.

accounting policies The specific accounting bases selected and consistently followed by an
entity as being, in the opinion of the management, appropriate to its circumstances and best
suited to present fairly its results and financial position (FRS 18, Companies Act and IAS 8).

accounting standards Authoritative statements of how particular types of transaction and
other events should be reflected in financial statements. Compliance with accounting stand-
ards will normally be necessary for financial statements to give a true and fair view.

Accounting Standards Board (ASB) A UK standard-setting body set up in 1990 to develop,
issue and withdraw accounting standards. Its aims are to ‘establish and improve standards of
financial accounting and reporting, for the benefit of users, preparers and auditors of finan-
cial information’.

accounts payable The money owed by entities to suppliers for goods and services.
accounts receivable The money owed to entities by customers.

Alternative Investment Market (AIM) A securities market designed primarily for small com-
panies, regulated by the Stock Exchange but with less demanding rules than apply to the
Stock Exchange official list of companies.

annual report and accounts A set of statements which may comprise a management report
(in the case of companies, a directors’ report), an auditors’ report, and the financial state-
ments of the entity.

asset A right or other access to future economic benefits which can be measured reliably and
are controlled by an entity as a result of past transactions or events (IAS 16).

audit A systematic examination of the activities and status of an entity, based primarily on
investigation and analysis of its systems, controls, and records. A statutory annual audit of a
company is defined by International Standard on Auditing 200 as the expression of an opin-
ion by the auditor on whether the financial statements are prepared, in all material respects,
in accordance with an applicable financial reporting framework.

auditor A professionally qualified accountant who is appointed by, and reports independently to,
the shareholders, providing an objective verification to shareholders and other users that the
financial statements have been prepared properly and in accordance with legislative and regula-
tory requirements; that they present the information truthfully and fairly, and that they conform
to the best accounting practice in their treatment of the various measurements and valuations.
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balance sheet A statement of the financial position of an entity at a given date disclosing the
assets, liabilities, and accumulated funds such as shareholders’ contributions and reserves,
prepared to give a true and fair view of the financial state of the entity at that date.

cash (and cash equivalents) Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, together with short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash (IAS 7).

creative accounting A form of accounting which, while complying with all regulations, never-
theless gives a biased (generally favourable) impression of a company’s performance.

debt One of the alternative sources of capital for a company, also called long-term debt or loans.

equity The total investment of the shareholders in the company - the total value of book
wealth. Equity comprises share capital, share premiums, and retained earnings.

financial accounting The accounting function responsible for the periodic external reporting,
statutorily required, for shareholders. It also provides such similar information as required
for government and other interested third parties, such as potential investors, employees,
lenders, suppliers, customers, and financial analysts.

financial management (or management of corporate finance) The management of all the
processes associated with the efficient acquisition and deployment of both short- and long-
term financial resources. Within an organisation financial management assists operations
management to reach their financial objectives.

Financial Reporting Council (FRC) The UK body responsible for:

(i) promoting high standards of corporate governance

(i) setting standards for corporate reporting and actuarial practice and monitoring and
enforcing accounting and auditing standards

(iii) overseeing the regulatory activities of the actuarial profession and the professional
accountancy bodies.

Financial Reporting Standards (FRSs) The accounting standards of practice published by
the Accounting Standards Board between August 1990 and July 2012, and by the Account-
ing Council from July 2012, and which are gradually replacing the Standard Statements of
Accounting Practice (SSAPs), which were published by the Accounting Standards Commit-
tee up to August 1990.

financial statements Summaries of accounts, whether to internal or external parties, to pro-
vide information for interested parties. The three key financial statements are: income state-
ment; balance sheet; statement of cash flows. Other financial statements are: report of the
auditors; reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds.

flotation A flotation, or initial public offering (IPO), is the obtaining of a listing by a company
on a stock exchange, through the offering of its shares to the general public, financial institu-
tions, or private sector businesses.

income statement The statement of financial performance that measures and reports whether
or not the company has made a profit or loss on its operations during the period, through
producing and selling its goods or services.

internal control As defined in the Cadbury Report, it is the whole system of controls, financial
or otherwise, established in order to provide reasonable assurance of:

(i) effective and efficient operation
(ii) internal financial control
(iii) compliance with laws and regulations.
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International Accounting Standards (IASs) The international financial reporting standards
issued by the IASC, which are very similar to the SSAPs and FRSs, which are used in the UK.

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) The IASB is the body that is responsi-
ble for setting and publishing International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). It was
formed on 1 April 2001 and succeeded the International Accounting Standards Committee
(IASC) which had been formed in 1973. The parent body of the IASB is the International
Accounting Standards Committee Foundation, which was incorporated in the USA in March
2001, and was also responsible for issuing International Accounting Standards (IASs).

International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) A committee supported by many
national accounting bodies worldwide, whose objectives are:

(i) to facilitate and publish, in the public interest, accounting standards to be observed in
the presentation of financial statements, and to promote their worldwide acceptance
and observance.

(i) to work generally for the improvement of harmonisation of regulations, accounting
standards, and procedures relating to the presentation of financial statements.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) The international financial reporting
standards issued by the IASB, which incorporate the IASs, issued by the IASC.

International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) A set of professional standards that deals with
the independent auditor’s responsibilities when conducting an audit of financial statements.

inventories Inventories, according to IAS 2, comprise:

m assets held for sale in the ordinary course of business (finished goods)

m assets in the production process for sale in the ordinary course of business (work in pro-
gress) and

®m materials and supplies that are consumed in production (raw materials).

liabilities An entity’s obligations to transfer economic benefits as a result of past transactions
or events (IAS 37).

management accounting The application of the principles of accounting and financial man-
agement to create, protect, preserve and increase value so as to deliver that value to the
stakeholders of profit and not-for-profit enterprises, both public and private. Management
accounting is an integral part of management, requiring the identification, generation, pres-
entation, interpretation and use of information relevant to:

formulating business strategy

planning and controlling activities

decision-making

efficient resource usage

performance improvement and value enhancement

m safeguarding tangible and intangible assets, corporate governance and internal control.

net realisable value The amount for which an asset could be disposed, less any direct selling
costs (SSAP 9 and IAS 2).

off balance sheet financing The funding of operations in such a way that the relevant assets
and liabilities are not disclosed in the balance sheet of the company concerned.

private limited company (Ltd) A company in which the liability of members for the com-
pany’s debts is limited to the amount paid and, if any, unpaid on the shares taken up by them.

profit (or profit after tax or profit for the year) Profit before tax (PBT) less corporation tax.
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public limited company (plc) A company limited by shares or by guarantee, with a share
capital, whose memorandum states that it is public and that it has complied with the reg-
istration procedures for such a company. A public company is distinguished from a private
company in the following ways: a minimum issued share capital of £50,000; public limited
company, or plc, at the end of the name; public company clause in the memorandum; free-
dom to offer securities to the public.

qualified accountant A member of the accountancy profession, and in the UK a member of
one of the six professional accountancy bodies: CIMA; ICAEW; ICAS; ICAI; ACCA; CIPFA,
and internationally the CGMA (amalgamation of CIMA and the American AICPA).

Registrar of Companies Government official agency that is responsible for initial registration
of new companies and for collecting and arranging public access to the annual reports of all
limited companies.

share A fixed identifiable unit of capital which has a fixed nominal or face value, which may be
quite different from the market value of the share.

statement of cash flows A statement that summarises the inflows and outflows of cash for a
period, classified under the following standard headings (IAS 7):

B operating activities
® investing activities
m financing activities.
The statement of cash flows is one of the three key financial statements.

Statements of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAPs) The accounting standards of practice
published by the Accounting Standards Committee up to 1 August 1990.

subsidiary A subsidiary company, defined by IAS 27, is a company for which another company
(the parent company) owns more than half the voting shares or has power:

m over more than one half of the voting rights by virtue of an agreement with other
investors or

m to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity under a statue or an
agreement or

B to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the board of directors or

m to cast the majority of votes at a meeting of the board of directors.

treasury management The corporate handling of all financial matters, the generation of
external and internal funds for business, the management of currencies and cash flows, and
the complex strategies, policies, and procedures of corporate finance.

true and fair view The requirement for financial statements prepared in compliance with
the Companies Act to ‘give a true and fair view’ overrides any other requirements. Although
not precisely defined in the Companies Act, this is generally accepted to mean that accounts
show a true and fair view if they are unlikely to mislead a user of financial information by
giving a false impression of the company.

window dressing A creative accounting practice in which changes in short-term funding have the
effect of disguising or improving the reported liquidity position of the reporting organisation.

working capital Also called net current assets, working capital is the capital available for
conducting day-to-day operations of an organisation: normally the excess of current assets
over current liabilities.
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Assessment material

Questions

Q1.1 What are the different types of business entity and what are the fundamental differ-
ences between them?

Q1.2 (i) Why s financial information produced?
(i) Who is it produced for and what do they use it for?

Q1.3 Outline the responsibilities of the finance director of a large public limited company
(plo).

Q1.4 Which are the three key financial statements that are used to provide information
to shareholders and others about the company’s financial position and financial
performance, and what are their limitations?

Q1.5 (i) Whatinformation does a balance sheet provide?
(ii)) What information does an income statement provide?
(iii) What information does a statement of cash flows provide?

Q1.6 How do financial statements ensure that accountability for the reporting of timely and
accurate information to shareholders is maintained?

Q1.7 (i) Whatis corporate finance?
(ii) How does corporate finance relate to accounting and perhaps other disciplines?

Q1.8 Describe the main corporate finance responsibilities of the finance director of a large
public limited company (plc).

Q1.9 Explain the key principles that underpin the discipline of corporate finance.

Discussion points

D1.1 The managing director of a large public limited company stated: ‘I’ve built up my busi-
ness over the past 15 years from a one-man band to a large plc. As we grew we seemed
to spend more and more money on accountants, financial managers, and auditors.
During the next few months we are restructuring to go back to being a private limited
company. This will be much simpler and we can save a fortune on finance departments
and auditing costs.” Discuss. (Hint: You may wish to research Richard Branson’s Virgin
Group on the Internet to provide some background for this discussion.)

D1.2 ‘Solong that, as a company, we continue to report profits each year then the sharehold-
ers will have no reason to complain.’ Discuss.
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Exercises

Solutions are provided in Appendix 2 to all exercise numbers highlighted in colour.

Level |

E1.1  Time allowed — 30 minutes

At a recent meeting of the local branch of the Women’s Institute they had a discussion about
what sort of organisation they were. The discussion broadened into a general debate about
all types of organisation, and someone brought up the term ‘business entity’. Although there
were many opinions, there was little sound knowledge about what business entities are. Jane
Cross said that her husband was an accountant and she was sure he would not mind spending
an hour one evening to enlighten them on the subject. Chris Cross fished out his textbooks to
refresh his knowledge of the subject and came up with a schedule of all the different business
entities he could think of together with the detail of their defining features and key points of
difference and similarity.

Prepare the sort of schedule that Chris might have drafted for his talk and identify the
category that the Women's Institute might fall into.

E1.2  Time allowed — 30 minutes

Mary Andrews was a finance manager but is now semi-retired. She has been asked by her local
comprehensive school careers officer to give a talk entitled: ‘What is corporate finance and
what is financial management?’

Prepare a list of bullet points that covers everything necessary for Mary to give a com-
prehensive and easy-to-understand presentation to a group of sixth-formers at the
school.

E1.3  Time allowed — 30 minutes
It is sometimes said that the only user of financial information is the accountant.

Outline the range of other users of financial information.

Level Il

E1.4  Time allowed — 30 minutes
Financial statements are produced each year by businesses, using prescribed formats.

Should major plcs be allowed to reflect their individuality in the formats in which their
own financial statements are presented?
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E1.5 Time allowed — 45 minutes

Professionals in the UK, for example, doctors, solicitors, accountants, etc., normally work
within partnerships. Many tradesmen, such as plumbers, car mechanics, carpenters, etc., oper-
ate as sole traders. Software engineers seem to work for corporations and limited companies.

Consider the size of operation, range of products, financing, the marketplace, and the
geographical area served, to discuss why companies like Microsoft and Yahoo! should
operate as plcs.

E1.6  Time allowed — 60 minutes

Bill Walsh has just been appointed finance director of a medium-sized engineering com-
pany, Nutsan Ltd, which has a high level of exports and is very sensitive to economic changes
throughout the UK and the rest of the world. One of the tasks on Bill’s action list is a review of
the accounting and finance function.

What are the senior financial roles that Bill would expect to be in place and what are
the important functions for which they should be responsible?

E1.7  Time allowed — 60 minutes

The Olympic Games held in London in August 2012 was originally budgeted in 2006 to cost
£2.35bn, but by the beginning of 2007 this estimate had risen to £9.3bn. By the start of the
Games in July 2012 the estimated cost was over £12bn. The centrepiece Olympic Stadium
in east London alone cost £537m. Work on the stadium began in 2007 and yet by December
2008 the UK Government had allocated a further £29m to the project. In December 2011 the
UK Government admitted that even the estimated cost of £40m for the opening ceremonies
for the Olympic and Paralympic Games was only half of the amount that would be needed. In
short, projections were way short of the actual costs — much to the concern of the media and
taxpayers alike.

You are required to research into the 2012 Olympic Games budget and the progress of
the costs using the BBC, the Financial Times, other serious newspapers, and the Inter-
net, and summarise the financial aspects of the project that you gather. You should
focus on the attitudes expressed by the general public and Government ministers and
consider examples of bias, non-timeliness, and lack of transparency.
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Learning objectives

Completion of this chapter will enable you to:

m Outline the strategic management process with regard to mission, corporate
objectives, corporate appraisal, and strategic choice.

m Explain why the maximisation of shareholder wealth is the primary corporate
objective.

m Consider the secondary, or surrogate, objectives of a company.

Appreciate the importance of how companies may adopt appropriate financial
strategies to create shareholder value.

Explain the efficient market hypothesis and its place in corporate financial theory.
Describe the concept of shareholder value.

Outline the key strategic financial decisions faced by companies.

Explain agency theory and what is meant by the agency problem.

Describe the range of alternative incentive schemes that may be used to overcome
the agency problem.

Introduction

This chapter begins by looking generally at the strategic management process. It puts the
corporate objectives of the company into context and how they are linked to shareholder
value and financial strategy. We will consider the range of corporate objectives of a busi-
ness, and in particular the primary objective of maximisation of shareholder wealth. Other
objectives, which are considered secondary to the main objective, are often described as
substitute or surrogate objectives. These may exist in support of the primary objective, or
because of the diverse interests of the other stakeholders in a business apart from the
shareholders, for example employees, the general public, suppliers, and customers. This
chapter deals with what is meant by shareholder value and its relationship with corporate
value, and the key financial decisions faced by businesses in their endeavours to achieve
their primary objective. An introduction to the subject of financial strategy will indicate
how the appropriate financial strategy may be used to increase value. The chapter closes
with a look at why the objective of maximisation of shareholder wealth may not always be
aligned with the goals of the managers of a business because of the agency problem. The
ways in which the agency problem may be dealt with are expanded on in Chapter 3 when
we discuss corporate governance.

Strategic management

The origins of strategy are in military campaigns and manoeuvring. Strategy is fundamentally
long term. It is concerned with the long-term ‘whats’ of the company rather than the ‘hows’,
for example what it wants to do, what it wants the organisation to be, and where it wants
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the organisation to go, including the specification of resources required to achieve specific
objectives. Strategy is not the ‘how’ to achieve those things. Tactics are the short-term plans
for achieving the objectives of the organisation. They are the shorter-term ‘hows’.

The strategic management process includes making decisions on: <

m the objectives of the organisation

m changes in these objectives

m the resources used to attain these objectives

m the policies that govern the acquisition, use, and disposition of these resources.

It is incorrect to assume that strategic management, which includes strategic planning, is just
an extension of budgeting. But there is a close relationship between these processes. A strategic
plan (see Chapter 9) looks at the long term, which is defined as more than one year and typi-
cally five or ten years. A budget is a short-term (less than one year) quantified statement, for
a defined period of time, which may include planned investments, revenues, expenses, assets,
liabilities, and cash flows. A budget provides a focus for the organisation, aids the co-ordination
of activities, and facilitates control.

The way in which a typical strategic management process may be carried out in an organisa-
tion is illustrated in the flow chart in Figure 2.1. The flow chart shows particularly how analysis
is used to develop strategies and actions.

It is fundamental for every company to have a mission developed from a vision of what it <l
would like to achieve. The mission statement may be a summary of goals and policies, which
does not have to be in writing, but is generally a sense of purpose or underlying belief of the
company. A mission includes four elements, defined in the Ashridge Mission Model developed
by Andrew Campbell and Sally Yeung in 1991: purpose; values; strategies; behaviour standards.
In addition it should answer the strategic question ‘what do we do?’ by defining the scope of
the business in terms of markets and products (Campbell, A and Yeung, S ‘Creating a sense of
mission’ Long Range Planning, Volume 24 Number 4, pages 10-20 (1991)). The most impor-
tant thing about a company’s mission is that it should be understood and believed in by every
employee in the business.

Strategic decisions cannot generally be collated by a company into some sort of total decision
matrix to arrive at an optimum overall strategy. Life is never as simple as this because there are

m The strategic management process

resources
analysis

review
and control

corporate
objectives

corporate
appraisal

strategic
choice

environmental
analysis
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too many variables, which are changing constantly, and also limitations with regard to know-
ledge and processes. In practice, strategy tends to emerge and develop in an incremental way
in order to maintain a strategic fit between corporate goals and resources and changing market
opportunities.

An organisation’s policy is the framework expressing the limits within which actions
should occur. Whereas policy is a long-lasting, usually unquantified, statement of guidance
about the way in which an organisation seeks to behave in relation to its stakeholders, cor-
porate objectives are the visionary statements set out by the company before it starts its
detailed planning.

Corporate objectives

A company is owned by its shareholders who have invested money in the business in order to
increase the value of, and maximise the return from, their investment. The primary objective
of a business is therefore assumed to be the maximisation of shareholder wealth. A company is
managed by its directors on behalf of its shareholders. Directors are appointed by shareholders
and are charged with the primary aim of achievement of the shareholder wealth maximisa-
tion objective. An increase in shareholder wealth is derived from cash received by shareholders
from the receipt of dividends and from capital gains from increases in the market price of their
shares.

The shareholders are not the only stakeholders in a business; there are many others, as
shown in Figure 2.2. Their aims and objectives do not necessarily coincide with the objectives
of the shareholders.

w The stakeholders of a business
shareholders/
investors

managers/
directors

government employees
general
public
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Surrogate objectives

Although we are assuming throughout this book that the primary objective of a company is
the maximisation of shareholder wealth, there are many other objectives including business
objectives, operational objectives, and individual objectives that should be formalised and in
writing. Other aims and objectives of the business, which must be secondary to the primary
objective, are called surrogate, or alternative objectives (see Figure 2.3), and may include:

profit maximisation

market share maximisation
earnings per share (eps) growth
social responsibility

sales maximisation

survival

dividend growth,

and may include non-financial objectives such as customer satisfaction and delivery reliability.
There are a number of problems associated with these surrogate objectives:

the choice of timescale applicable to profit maximisation may be long or short term

the measurement of profit is very subjective

a profit-maximising strategy is not without risk

with a sales maximisation strategy there is sometimes a danger of overtrading, in which
there is a lack of adequate working capital to support such increases in levels of business
survival, while an important objective, cannot be a long-term objective of a business

a business cannot exist merely to meet its social responsibility, for example to please its
employees, the local community, etc.

m surrogate or secondary objectives may actually be contrary to or may undermine the pri-
mary objective of shareholder wealth maximisation.

w Surrogate objectives of a company
profit
maximisation

market share
maximisation

sales
DO eps growth
maximisation

<
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Progress check 2.1

Why is maximisation of shareholder wealth a company’s primary objective?

The relationships between the objectives of a company should ensure that there is no conflict.
Their importance should also be assigned by ranking priorities. Objectives are set in order to
support the planning process and to assign responsibility to individuals. They should aim to
integrate each area of the company so that they are all moving in the same direction in align-
ment with the company’s mission and shareholders’ requirements. Objectives are also used to
motivate employees and to enable performance evaluation of individuals, departments, busi-
ness units, and companies.

Worked example 2.1

During a discussion at a recent board meeting the finance director of Moon plc explained
that traditional financial theory suggests that companies should pursue a primary
objective of long-term shareholder wealth maximisation. He went on to explain that most
companies also pursue one or more surrogate corporate objectives, and that Moon plc
should pursue an objective of short-term share price maximisation.

How can the adoption of such a surrogate corporate objective be justified?

Maximisation of shareholder wealth may be considered in terms of maximisation of
shareholder returns. Shareholder returns are derived from two sources — a regular flow
of dividends and capital growth from an increase in share price. A shareholder will invari-
ably demand a required rate of return, which is the anticipated future flows of dividends
expressed in today’s values, based on the shareholder’s required rate of return. This
method is often used to determine the fundamental value of a share. While this funda-
mental value may not necessarily be the market value of the shares it often represents a
close approximation, and as a consequence is often used as a substitute for measuring
shareholder wealth. This is a possible justification for Moon’s adoption of its surrogate
corporate objective of short-term share price maximisation.

The attitudes of the company’s stakeholders should be considered by the company in terms
of assessment of their expectations and reactions and the repercussions of decisions taken. This
can only be a broad assessment since in practice it is obviously difficult to determine the atti-
tudes of all stakeholders. Corporate and cultural power should be considered, which include
the shared beliefs, values, and attitudes that serve to define objectives. These must be priori-
tised and may include objectives within the current scope and the current culture, or they may
involve moves in new directions that possibly require culture changes.

Consideration of corporate culture in setting objectives should involve influence consultation,
which means identification of the people in the organisation that can make things happen and
therefore help in ensuring that objectives are met. Objectives also need to be structured in such a
way as to facilitate their implementation and achievement. The time limits and prioritisation for
completion of these objectives and the measures of their performance should also be specified.
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Having established its objectives, a company’s strategic management process continues to
consider many ideas and options and ‘what-ifs’. The purpose of this is to try and provide the

best ‘fit’ between the company and its environment, to enable it to focus on its most important
objectives, and to assist in determining how the company may achieve its objectives. The first

part of the process involves a corporate appraisal, which includes a review of the business in
terms of external factors (environmental analysis) and internal factors (resources analysis, <
or position audit) to assess the possibility of attaining objectives, and considers the basis of the
company’s competitive advantage — Porter’s generic strategy (Porter, ME (1980) Competitive
Strategy: Techniques for Analyzing Industries and Competitors, New York: The Free Press).

Environmental analysis of the company includes consideration of, for example:

Corporate appraisal

m the nature of the company’s environment, whether it is complex or simple, and whether the
company is slow or dynamic in reacting to what is going on in the environment

m analysis of PESTEL (political, economic, social, technological change, environmental, and
legistative) factors

m external elements of a SWOT (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, threats) analysis — the
part of the SWOT analysis (see an example in Chapter 8) that looks at major external threats
to the company and how these may be avoided, turned round, or exploited along with all
other opportunities

m structural analysis of the competitive environment (Porter), which looks at the competitive
reactions of current and potential competitors in the industry and how they may compete,
and considers:
m analysis of the market characteristics of supply and demand
m forecasting (see Chapter 9) and the use of databases and a range of information sources.

The position audit or resources analysis of the company considers things like, for example:

m availability and control of the 5Ms — the resources of people (men), materials, plant and
equipment (machines), cash flow (money), and markets

m the company’s industrial sectors and its products

m internal elements of a SWOT analysis (see an example in Chapter 8) that look at the major
internal weaknesses of the company and how these may be eliminated and how the com-
pany may capitalise on its strengths

m portfolio analysis of the company — product life cycle (PLC) and the Boston Consulting
Group (BCG) matrix (see Chapter 13)

m gap analysis, which looks at gaps that may exist between the company and the best in the indus-
try and considers areas such as levels of productivity, quality, distribution, and service efficiency

m skills and flexibility analysis — the human resources analysis of the strengths, knowledge and
experience of all employees and their ability to work in teams

m financial analysis (see Chapter 8)

m comparative analysis of historical performance and industry norms, using benchmarking
and the company’s own records

m the learning curve with regard to new employees, new products, and new processes.

Porter’s generic strategy describes the way in which a business may derive a competitive advan-
tage through either cost leadership, or differentiation of its products and services from its com-
petitors on the basis of, for example, technology, quality, service, or branding. Having chosen
cost leadership or differentiation, the company may then focus on either broad markets or nar-
row markets of specific products and customers.



m Chapter 2 Corporate objectives

Iy

Strategic choice

The next step in the company’s strategic management process considers strategic choice,
which uses the information provided from the corporate appraisal to evaluate the suitability,
feasibility, and acceptability of the development of alternative strategies through:

B screening options, using ranking, decision trees, scenario analysis, and simulation

m financial analysis using, for example, cost-benefit analysis, break-even analysis, return on
capital employed (see Chapter 8), payback, and DCF (see Chapter 6)

m risk analysis (see Chapter 12),

and strategic method, which deals with the ways in which a company may develop and grow.

Corporate development and growth may be either through internal organic development or
through acquisitions, mergers, or joint ventures. Organic growth is achieved from investment
by the company in value-adding projects (see Chapter 6), and the development of new prod-
ucts and services, processes, and markets.

Strategic method may use techniques such as the Ansoff growth matrix analysis, which
considers gaps in the market, and the products and markets in which the business wishes to
compete. The company may adopt a strategy of doing nothing, withdrawing from a market,
penetrating and developing a market, consolidating the company’s position by developing
products, or diversifying. The Ansoff diversification model (Ansoff, HI ‘Strategies for diversi-
fication’ Harvard Business Review 25(5), pages 113-25 (1957)) considers the various meth-
ods of diversification, which may be related (horizontal, or vertical backward and forward) or
unrelated to the company’s current areas of business through conglomerate growth involving
acquisitions (see Chapter 16).

Implementation of strategy requires consideration of the planning and allocation of
resources, development of an appropriate organisational structure and the people and systems
within the corporate environment. It also requires consideration of how strategies will be man-
aged as they are rolled out and systems put in place for their review and control. The outcomes
of review and control systems are usually fed back into a company’s systems of resources ana-
lysis in order that refinements or changes may be made to strategy as necessary.

Worked example 2.2

We are required to identify a policy, a strategy, and tactics for Mediatrix plc, which is a
designer and manufacturer of hi-tech consumer products, and which wants to develop a
specific multi-media product that is number one in the marketplace.

The policy for Mediatrix may be to aim for a product that is technically superior to the
competition.

The strategy for Mediatrix may involve planning to spend 15% of its sales revenue on
research and development.

A tactic for Mediatrix may be to set up a cross-functional new product development
(NPD) team.

A further level below the tactical level is operational control. In the case of Mediatrix
this may involve the monitoring of feedback from the cross-functional NPD team.
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Progress check 2.2

What is strategy?

Financial strategy

We have seen that the development of business strategy is concerned with plans relating to  <lll
markets, product planning, the competitive position of the business, and so on. This book is

more concerned with financial strategy and its role in the selection of appropriate methods of <l
funding a business, and how those funds are most effectively used for wealth creation in terms

of returns on investment in new projects, and the distribution of those returns to the investors

in the business.

Individual shareholders and others, for example pension funds and other financial insti-
tutions, invest in companies to achieve shareholder value (or investor value). Here we are <l
talking about the popular meaning of investment — the purchase of shares in a company.
Shareholder value may be reflected in the expected returns of the capital markets mir-
rored in the value placed on the company’s shares by the markets. This may be the market
value of the shares of the business, or it may be a value of the business derived from using
a range of other methods (which we will discuss in Chapter 16 when we look at mergers
and acquisitions).

Companies invest in a range of projects with an aim of spreading risk and creating corporate
value in order to try and provide value for the shareholders. Here we are talking about ‘real’
investments by companies in strategies and projects to provide growth and make them bet-
ter businesses. The expected future returns are valued at a discount rate appropriate to the
business. Corporate value is defined as the value today of the expected future returns from <@l
current business strategies and future investment projects, valued at an appropriate discount
rate (see Chapter 6). Sometimes companies may invest in a combination of projects to spread
the risk, but the result may not be a reduction in overall risk. Very often overall risk may be
increased, without any corresponding increase in value and although eps (earnings per share)
may be increased, shareholder value may actually be destroyed. Examples of this may be seen
in conglomerates which have acquired a business in which they have no real expertise, or if too
high a price has been paid for the acquisition of a company, or if the method of financing an
acquisition is not cost-effective.

The AstraZeneca press extract below illustrates how inappropriate financial strategies
resulted in the destruction of shareholder value. Dissatisfaction with the company’s per-
formance peaked with the CEO, David Brennan, resigning hours before the start of the
annual shareholders’ meeting in April 2012. Although the Anglo-Swedish drug-maker had
appeared outwardly healthy in recent years, this was due to the distribution of ever larger
dividends and the launching of share buy-backs with its cash generated from revenues
from existing medicines. However, behind this lay the failure of a number of acquisitions
and lack of progress in research projects which led to a decline in share price. Analysis of
the share price over a longer period may provide even more convincing support for the
argument that shareholder value may be destroyed through use of an inappropriate finan-
cial strategy.
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shareholder value

he outgoing chief executive of Astra-

Zeneca is set to walk away with at least
£38 million for his six-year tenure despite
deep unease in the City over the company’s
future.

A chorus of shareholder anger sur-
rounded David Brennan’s decision yester-
day to stand down in June, a resignation that
the company insisted was entirely voluntary.
Mr Brennan, 59, said that he was retiring
for ‘personal’ reasons: “T’ve been very busy
with my job. 'm looking forward to spend-
ing time with my family.’

He will be replaced on an interim basis
by the chief financial officer, Simon Lowth.
The company’s chairman, Louis Schweitzer,
is standing down ahead of schedule to allow
his successor, the former Volvo boss Leif
Johansson, to preside over the choice of a
new chief executive. Mr Schweitzer said:
“David felt it was time for him to change
his lifestyle and the board accepted his
decision.’

Mr Brennan’s departure was announced
alongside a profit warning as AstraZeneca
revealed that the loss of patent protection
on several key drugs had blown a hole in
its quarterly revenue, which fell by 11 per
cent to $7.3 billion. Shares in the company
fell 6.1 per cent to £26.76. He will receive a
payoff of at least £5.4 million, although the
figure could rise to as much as £12 million
if AstraZeneca allows him to keep share
awards that are due to mature up to 2018.

This golden parachute will come on top
of his accumulated carnings of £32.4 mil-
lion since he was appointed chief executive
in 2006, and a pension fund of £985,000
accrued over 36 years at the company.

Institutional investors have been clamour-
ing for change at AstraZeneca, alarmed by a
slide in revenues and by the failure of key
medicines in clinical trials. At the compa-
ny’s annual meeting at a hotel near Tower
Bridge, small shareholders queued to berate
the board, whose members include John

How an inappropriate financial strategy can destroy
Varley, the former Barclays chief executive,
who chairs the remuneration committee.

company of overpaying its senior execu-
tives and of under-performing rivals such

as Glaxo SmithKline and Bristol Myers-

which T mean this paltry shareholder return,’
he said. Another thundered ‘shame on you,

team, adding: ‘Mr Brennan may have short-

the board.’
ten-year patents on its biggest-selling drugs,

Nexium, a treatment for heartburn.

job losses over the preceding five years.

One investor, John Farmer, accused the

Squibb. ‘A lot is being paid for a little, by

shame on you’ at the stony-faced leadership
comings, but the blame for all this lies with

AstraZeneca’s difficulties are largely
caused by the looming expiry of exclusive

including a cholesterol-lowering medicine,
Crestor, an antidepressant, Seroquel, and

When patents expire, the price of medi-
cines drops by as much as 90 per cent as
generic manufacturers make cheap copies.
AstraZeneca’s efforts to develop new drugs
to make up the shortfall have largely failed.

Thousands of jobs have been lost under
Mr Brennan’s leadership as AstraZeneca
wielded the axe in an attempt to maintain
its profits. The company recently announced
7,300 redundancies, including a withdrawal
from neurology research, on top of 21,000

A spate of recent deals has underlined the
company’s need for new medicines, includ-
ing the $1.26 billion (£780 million) takeover
this week of a US developer of an unproven
treatment for gout.

Mike Mitchell, a pharmaceuticals ana-
lyst at Seymour Pierce, said that AstraZen-
eca faced a long-term battle to maintain its
independence: ‘It looks like a business that
has been flailing desperately for some kind
of lifeline.’

Source: AstraZeneca chief quits with derision

ringing in his ears, by Andrew Clarke © The Times,
27 April 2012
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An example of destruction of shareholder value was seen in the Eurotunnel project. The
world’s biggest privately funded project (at that time) began in 1987, but by 2004 Euro-
tunnel’s share price had dropped by 90% to under 20p. By 2005 it had fallen even further
to around 17p, but recovered a little to around 25p during 2006.

Eurotunnel incurred huge losses and debts counted in billions of £ sterling, which it
could not afford to service or repay. At the outset Eurotunnel had been extremely over-
optimistic in its forecasts. It actually attracted around 35% of the original prediction of
16 million passengers per year, and only around 25% of its initial forecast of an annual 7
million tonnes of freight business. The initial costs of the project were greatly exceeded,
with the cost of building the tunnel at £10bn instead of an estimated £6bn. That problem
was further exacerbated by their high loan interest rates in the early 1990s of between
11% and 17%, which subsequently fell to between 5% and 7%. Eurotunnel was also hit
by an economic downturn, which resulted in a fall in numbers of people travelling, and
increased price competition from the cross-Channel ferries, and discount airlines such as
easyJet and Ryanair. Eurotunnel’s fate was blamed by some on the fact that when Marga-
ret Thatcher, and former French premier Francois Mitterrand, gave the final go-ahead for
the tunnel in 1987, Mrs Thatcher insisted that the project should be completely privately
funded, and with no subsequent government help.

In a perfectly competitive market it may be argued that the return from a portfolio (or spread)
of investments exactly matches the return demanded by shareholders and other investors and so
no (additional) value is created. Financial strategy is to do with decisions related to the financ-
ing of the business or individual projects, using debt or equity. The appraisal of the individual
‘real’ investment project opportunities available to a business, which is discussed in Chapter 6, is
used to determine if they are viable and will add value to the business. Financial strategy is also
to do with decisions about capital structure, and how much profit should be paid in interest or
dividends and how much should be retained for investment in new projects. It is also to do with
decisions about the choice of which type of loan may be most appropriate, the management of
financial risk, the use of derivatives, and mergers and acquisitions.

Imagine the following hypothetical scenario:

m all information about companies and their markets is fully known by all investors

all companies’ capital is homogenous and debt is the same as equity in terms of its risk
and cost

dividends are not paid

all investment projects have the same risk and returns

there is no corporation tax

companies’ share prices reflect the book values of their net assets.

Clearly in the above scenario financial strategy has little significance. In such a perfectly com-
petitive market all investors would receive the same returns and no additional value would be
created, and investors would have no financial reason to invest in one company rather than
another. It is because each of the above hypothetical situations do not apply in practice, and
because companies and investors do not have access to, or do not know all relevant informa-
tion, that opportunities arise which enable financial strategies to be adopted that provide value
over and above market expectations.
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In reality, capital is not homogeneous in terms of its characteristics, risks and returns,
and different costs. In addition, different returns may exist for the same type of loan, for
example, in different sectors of the same market or in alternative markets. A company has a
choice as to whether or not it pays a dividend to its shareholders. The appropriate financial
strategy will be one that selects the required type of capital at the lowest cost and adopts a
corresponding dividend policy, which together result in an optimisation of corporate value
and shareholder value.

Actual investment projects vary considerably with regard to their risks and returns. Their
actual returns will also differ from their expected returns because of variations in original
investment costs, the timings and values of future cash flows, and variations in the cost of capi-
tal. Financial strategy with regard to ‘real’ investment relates to the use of appropriate capital
investment evaluation methods, use of relevant discount rates, and the assessment and man-
agement of risk that result in an optimisation of corporate value.

Corporation tax is normally payable by companies in the UK. The levels of tax incurred by a
company will depend on the financial measures taken by the company to avoid and mitigate its
corporation tax payable, with the aim of optimisation of corporate value.

If a company makes all the ‘right’ decisions, which result in the optimisation of its level
of corporate value, this may not necessarily be reflected in the maximisation of shareholder
wealth in terms of dividends and the market price of its shares. To achieve this a company must
therefore also adopt the ‘right’ financial strategies relating to, for example, levels of gearing
and dividend policy. It must also pursue other strategies that have an impact on the share price,
which may include:

m creation of competitive advantages and barriers to market entry, through for example,
effective marketing, establishment of strong brand names, and economies of scale

m employment of a strong management team with the credibility that inspires confidence
among investors, City analysts, and potential investors

m development of efficient communication channels and public relations that emphasise com-
pany achievements and awareness of future plans

m actions that reduce risk to the level commensurate with returns required by the shareholders,
for example insurance, and the hedging of interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate
risk (see Chapter 12).

Progress check 2.3

What is meant by corporate value and how is it different from shareholder value?

Financial strategy is therefore broadly concerned with corporate value and shareholder
value, and the courses of action required to achieve the specific objective of creating share-
holder value above the average returns expected for that specific type of company in that
particular market. The use of appropriate financial strategies by a company will depend on
its stage of development and also the behaviour of the financial markets in which it oper-
ates. Companies may benefit from the adoption of financial strategies that exploit imper-
fections and inefficiencies in the markets relating to each of the factors we have discussed,
which we will explore in more detail throughout this book. The following section looks
broadly at what is meant by market efficiency and inefficiency with regard to the capital or
financial markets.
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The efficient market hypothesis states that stock markets respond immediately to all available <
information. An individual investor cannot therefore, in the long run, expect greater than aver-

age returns from a diversified portfolio of shares. Efficient market hypothesis research evidence
suggests that accounting tricks and manipulations employed by companies do not increase com-

pany value, because the market is able to see through them. However, we may question whether

in practice any market can respond immediately to all available information. As we have seen

over the past few years, many creative techniques have been used to disguise presumably widely
understood accounting transactions, for example WorldCom and Enron (see Chapter 1).

There are three types of market efficiency:

Efficient market hypothesis

m pricing efficiency, which refers to the notion or understanding that prices rapidly reflect all
available information in an unbiased way

m operational efficiency, which refers to the level of costs of carrying out transactions in capital
markets in the most cost-effective way

m allocational efficiency, which refers to the extent to which capital is allocated to the most
profitable enterprise, and should be a product of pricing efficiency.

There are three forms of market efficiency, which are subsets of pricing efficiency:

m weak form efficiency, which is seen in a market in which security prices instantaneously
reflect all information on past price and volume changes in the market

m semi-strong form efficiency, which is seen in a market in which security prices reflect all
publicly available information

m strong form efficiency, which is seen in a market in which security prices reflect instanta-
neously all information available to investors, whether publicly available or not.

In terms of financial markets the term efficiency generally refers to pricing efficiency. In the
financial markets, like other markets in general, the price of a financial asset or a currency will
be an equilibrium price between rational, well-informed, profit-seeking buyers and sellers. All
information available in the public domain will be discounted into the price of a financial asset
or currency.

A perfect market has the following characteristics:

information is freely available to everyone in the market

there is a large number of buyers and sellers who may freely enter and leave the market
there is no taxation

there are no transaction costs

there is perfect competition and no single buyer or seller dominates the market

everyone in the market will be aware of any creative accounting and window dressing of the
financial information contained in companies’ reports and accounts

financial assets are infinitely divisible

m bankruptcies may occur but are without any cost.

Perfect markets imply efficient markets. However, efficient markets are not required to be
perfect markets. Market efficiency promotes:

B investor trust in the market and thus encourages capital investment
m allocational efficiency,

and improves market information and therefore the choice of investments.
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Substantial research has been carried out with regard to each form of efficiency to test how
efficient security markets, equity markets, and currency markets really are, for example:

m weak form efficiency — Beechley, M, Gruen, D, and Vickery, J ‘The efficient market hypoth-
esis: a survey’ Research Paper Reserve Bank of Australia (2000); Fama, EF ‘The behaviour of
stock market prices’ Journal of Business, pages 34—-106 (January, 1965); Roberts, HV ‘Stock
market patterns and financial analysis: methodological suggestions’ Journal of Finance 1-10
(March, 1959)

m semi-strong form efficiency — Ball, R and Brown, P ‘An empirical evaluation of accounting
income numbers’ Journal of Accounting Research, pages 159-78 (Autumn, 1968); Fama, EF,
Fisher, L, Jensen, MC, and Roll, R ‘The adjustment of stock prices to new information’ Inter-
national Economic Review 10(1), pages 1-21 (February, 1969)

m strong form efficiency — Jensen, MC ‘The performance of mutual funds in the period 1945—
1964’ Journal of Finance, pages 389-416 (May, 1968).

In general, these tests are categorised as:

m weak form efficiency tests
m semi-strong form efficiency tests
m strong form efficiency tests,

and they have sought to evaluate the relative efficiency of such markets.

Weak form efficiency tests have sought to test the theory that prices follow patterns that
can be used to predict future prices. This means that all prices fully reflect information con-
tained in past price movements. Such studies have found no discernible pattern that can be
used to predict future prices, but have indicated that prices follow a random walk, which
means that:

m prices have no memory
m yesterday’s prices cannot predict tomorrow’s prices

and therefore
m only new information causes price changes.

The random walk theory suggests that share price movements are independent of each
other and that today’s share price cannot be used to predict tomorrow’s share price. Therefore,
the movement of a share price follows no predictable pattern, but moves in a random fashion
with no discernible trend. This notion of random variability in the pricing of shares originates
from the work of Kendall, M ‘The analysis of economic time-series prices’ Journal of the Royal
Statistical Society 96, pages 11-25 (1953), in which he examined security and commodity price
movements over a period of time. He was looking for regular price cycles, but was unable to
identify any. Essentially, Kendall’s theory states that the random walk occurs because, at any
point in time, a share price will reflect all information available about the share and the com-
pany, and will only change as new information becomes available. However, because the next
piece of information to arrive will be independent of the last piece of information to arrive,
share prices react and move in an unpredictable fashion.

Semi-strong form efficiency tests have sought to test the theory that security prices fully
reflect all information in the public domain. This means that all prices fully reflect all relevant
publicly available information. These studies have also not produced any conclusive evidence
that exceptional returns can be earned from information widely available in the public domain.

Strong form efficiency tests have sought to test the theory that security prices reflect all
information, including insider information. This means that all prices fully reflect all relevant
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information including information that is privately held. Such studies have shown that insiders
can make exceptional returns over and above those available from information in the public
domain, usually only for a short period.

The implications of the efficiency tests described above may be summarised by saying that
in efficient markets there is no bargain today, there is no memory of yesterday, and there is no
knowledge of tomorrow. From this it may be concluded that markets generally follow a weak
form efficiency, which means that pricing is generally regarded as inefficient.

Progress check 2.4

What is the efficient market hypothesis?

Worked example 2.3 illustrates the efficient market hypothesis and how information may
impact on a company’s share price.

Worked example 2.3

Predator plc has issued share capital of 24,000,000 shares, and Target plc has issued
share capital of 8,000,000 shares. The following details relate to the time period days
one to ten.

Day1 The market value per share is Target plc £4 and Predator plc £6.

Day3 The directors of Predator plc decide at a private and confidential meeting to make a
cash bid for Target plc at a price of £6 per share with a settlement day of day 16. The
takeover will result in large operating savings with a present value of £21 million.

Day7 Predator plc publicly announces an unconditional offer to purchase all the shares
in Target plc at a price of £6 per share. Details of the large operating savings are
not announced and are not public knowledge.

Day 10 Predator plc makes a public announcement of the operating savings that will be
realised from the takeover, and the share price increases to £6.21.

Let’s assume semi-strong efficiency of the market, and consider the values of Predator plc
and Target plc on days 1, 3, 7, and 10.

Days 1 and 3

Market value of Predator 24m X £6 = £144m
Market value of Target 8m X £4 = £32m

Day 7

Cost to Predator of offer for Target = [(8m X £6) — (8m X £4)] = £16m

Market value of Predator = 24m X £6 = £144m less £16m price offered for
Target = £128m

Share price of Predator = £128m/24m = £5.33 per share

Day 10
Market value of Predator = 24m X £6.21 = £149m
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If the market has the semi-strong form of efficiency then in theory the prices on
days 1, 3, 7, and 10 should be as follows:

Target Predator
£ £
Days 1 and 3 4.00 6.00
Day 7 6.00 5.33
Day 10 6.00 6.21

The decision made on day 3 will have no impact on the share prices of Predator or Target,
unless there has been a leak of information.

On day 7, following the announcement of the cash offer by Predator plc of £6 per
share for Target plc the market price of Target’s shares should increase from £4 to the
bid price of £6. The value of Predator is likely to be reduced from £144m to £128m
(£144m - £16m) or £5.33 per share. The share price was likely to fall because there did
not appear to be any benefits from the acquisition.

On day 10, following the announcement of the benefit of operating savings with a
present value of £21m (three days after the initial offer announcement), the share price
of Predator plc increases to £6.21 per share and therefore its market value increases to
£149m (24m X £6.21).

In reality, the share prices may not react in this way because there are many other fac-
tors that impact on share price movements.

Worked example 2.4

A colleague of yours has recently attended a series of finance seminars run by a local
university. During one of the seminars your colleague recollects the speaker suggesting
that ‘an efficient market is good for all profit-orientated organisations’, and has asked you
to explain why that is the case.

There are a number of points that should be considered, the main ones being that an
efficient market:

promotes investor confidence

reduces risk and uncertainty

increases degrees of predictability
reduces market costs

reduces the need for excessive regulation
reduces the need for proactive monitoring
reduces costs of regulation.
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In the financial markets the complicating role of governments and their central banks to
influence the market operations of other institutional organisations and international compa-
nies as they constantly battle for the right to maximise potential financial rewards is of major
importance. While imperfections may exist within the market, such imperfections may not
necessarily exist due to problems in the supply and demand of information. They may be the
direct consequence of political protectionism rather than a product of economic supply and
demand.

The concept of the efficient market is the basis of many of the ideas of traditional corporate
financial theory and its implications are, for example:

m that the market will have already discounted any manipulation of accounting information in
share prices

m it is not possible to obtain any information that will result in better than average returns

m share prices reflect only investors’ required returns for perceived levels of risk

m shares are never under-priced

m that it is not possible to achieve better than average stock market returns.

Although the UK stock market and other capital markets apparently respond relatively efficiently

to new information as soon as it becomes available, the assumptions of efficient markets may be

open to debate. The efficient market hypothesis is a theoretical, analytical framework. In a per-

fectly efficient market investors would receive their required returns dependent on the level of

risk they are prepared to take, and no additional shareholder value would be created. In the real

world markets are not perfectly efficient. Additional shareholder value may be created by com-

panies using appropriate financial strategies to exploit the different perceptions of the market,

which are called market imperfections. These imperfections include, for example, the informa-

tion asymmetry that exists with regard to each of the stakeholders in companies. For example,

managers, directors, lenders, and shareholders each have different levels and aspects of informa-

tion about companies and their assets. There may also be significant periods of time between

when important information is revealed or acquired by each of the different stakeholders.

Shareholder value

Value is a function of the relationship between perceived risk and the return required by
shareholders and other key stakeholders. The higher the risk that is associated with a par-
ticular security, the higher is the required rate of return (see Figure 2.4). For the borrower,
short-term debt (such as an overdraft) is riskier than long-term debt. There are a number of
reasons for this:

m an overdraft is repayable on demand

m ashort-term debt or an overdraft may not be renewed, or if they are re-negotiated then the
terms may be less favourable

B interest rates are more volatile in the short term, particularly for overdrafts which have vari-
able interest rates.

The difference between the interest rate paid on, for example, UK Government securities,
which is effectively risk-free, and the interest rate that a company pays on loans is called the risk
premium. Shareholders’ equity is even riskier than shorter-term corporate debt (for example,
a loan made to a company). Therefore, the earnings of the company need to be at a level such
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that the shareholders get a return in line with their level of risk. This should be the return on UK
Government securities plus a risk premium, which is even higher than the risk premium payable
on the corporate debt.

An increase in shareholders’ wealth is derived from cash received by shareholders through
dividends and capital gains from the increased market price of shares held. There are three
variables that directly affect shareholders’ wealth (see Figure 2.5):

m the size of the company’s cash flows — cash flows are considered rather than profit, which is
subjective and involves problems in its measurement
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m the time value of cash flows — £100 cash received today is generally worth more than £100
cash received in one year’s time

m the risk associated with cash flows — risk impacts on the rate of return earned on the invest-
ment in the business, and therefore the cost of capital that affects today’s value of cash
received in the future.

Providing value means being better than the market, by providing better than expectation.
This can be compared to a perfect market, in which all investors would in theory receive
their risk-adjusted required rates of return. A perfect market rarely exists because:

m information and knowledge may not always be freely and equally shared by all the players in
the market

m entry and exit into and out of markets is generally not without cost

all players may not act rationally, and they may have different expectations

m markets are usually dominated by a small number of players because of their buying power,
possession of scarce resources, unique knowledge, technologies, or skills

m taxes and costs of transacting act as barriers to selling and buying.

Many financial theorists currently believe that the use of financial strategies and techniques
by companies does not create and increase value, on the basis that today’s financial markets
are efficient and can easily and quickly identify and allow for the above factors. In theory this
may be the case, but in practice financial managers actually do employ financial strategies that
result in providing value over and above market expectation.

It is argued by some that markets are efficient but more volatile due to technological
advances. It is true that markets are perhaps becoming more efficient as information becomes
more freely and widely available, and the speed and cost of transactions are reduced (for exam-
ple, through the use of electronic transactions and the Internet). However, the future cannot
be forecast with certainty and so the market value of a business may rarely reflect the present
value of its expected future cash flows. Also, investors’ returns are related to the perceived risks
of their investments, but this relationship may not be the same for all investors.

It may therefore be argued that markets are still not totally efficient. Therefore, shareholder
value may be increased by exploitation of market imperfections, even though such imperfec-
tions may only be temporary. This may relate to exploitation of business competitive advan-
tages, and the use of appropriate financial strategies that result in an increase in shareholder
wealth. This includes, for example:

cost reduction and profit improvement measures

an optimal mix of products, services, and businesses

investment in only those projects that provide increased cash flows in real terms
minimisation of the company’s after-tax cost of capital

establishment of an optimal financial structure for the business

appropriate use of debt financing

the use of appropriate financial instruments, including derivatives

appropriate dividend policy.

Progress check 2.5

Describe the variables that directly affect maximisation of shareholder wealth.
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Shareholder value may be measured using two approaches, either book value (using
accounting-based measures) or market value (using measures based on share price), and
include the following performance indicators:

m residual income (RI)

m shareholder value added (SVA)
m economic value added (EVA™)
m shareholder return

which are considered in the four sections that follow.

Residual income (RI)

Residual income (RI) may be calculated by deducting a notional interest charge for capital
invested from profit before tax, and is therefore a measure of performance and an absolute
measure of value added.

If

Profit before tax = PBT
Capital invested = I
Interest on capital invested = i

then

RI = PBT — (i X 1)

Worked example 2.5

Let’s consider two divisions, A and B, within a company that have an opportunity to invest in
projects that both have an initial cost of £10m, and have expected profits before tax of £2m
and £1.3m respectively. The notional cost of capital for the company is 15% per annum.

The expected operating profits from each investment are shown below:

Company A Company B

Expected profit before tax £2.0m £1.3m
Cost of capital charge (15% of £10m) £1.5m £1.5m
Residual income (loss) £0.5m —£0.2m

Shareholder value added (SVA)

Alfred Rappaport (Rappaport, A (1998) Creating Shareholder Value, London: Free Press) con-
sidered that there were seven drivers of shareholder value. The first five drivers:

sales growth

operating profit margin

the cash tax rate

incremental capital expenditure investment
investment in working capital,

are used to determine forecast ‘free cash flows’ relating to the sixth driver
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m atime period of competitive advantage, the planning horizon, and using the seventh driver
m the cost of capital,

to discount the cash flows to present values (today’s values) to provide an enterprise value.

Shareholder value added (SVA) is a measure of enterprise value and Worked example 2.6

shows how SVA may be calculated in practice.

Worked example 2.6

Flag plc is a UK company whose shareholders require an annual return of 8%. The
calculation of Flag plc’s free cash flow for the current year highlights Rappaport’s first five
drivers of shareholder value:

£m

sales growth Sales revenue 5.0
Operating costs (3.0)

operating profit margin Operating profit 2.0
cash tax rate Income tax expense (0.5)

Profit for the year 1.5
add back: Depreciation 04

1.9
capital investment less: Capital expenditure (0.6)
investment in working capital less: Additional working capital (0.3)
Free cash flow 1.0

In addition, Flag plc has estimated its free cash flow for the next five years as: £1.5m;
£1.8m; £2.2m; £2.4m; £2.8m. Flag plc’s planning horizon is six years and its estimated
net asset value at the end of the planning horizon is £2.9m.

Let’s calculate Flag’s shareholder value added (SVA).

The value in perpetuity of the estimated net assets at the end of year six is:
£2.9.m/8% = £36.25m

We can use the ‘in perpetuity’ value of Flag plc’s net assets plus the free cash flows for
years one to six to calculate the company’s shareholder value added (SVA).

Year Free cash flow Discount factor Present value
£m at 8% p.a. £m

1 1.0 0.93 0.93
2 1.5 0.86 1.29
3 1.8 0.79 1.42
4 2.2 0.74 1.63
5 2.4 0.68 1.63
6 2.8 0.63 1.76
6 36.25 0.63 22.84

SVA 31.50

The enterprise value of Flag plc, its shareholder value added (SVA), is therefore £31.5m.
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Economic value added (EVA™)

A variation on RI is economic value added (EVA™), which aims to provide a measure that is
highly correlated with shareholder wealth as well as financial performance.

Maximisation of shareholder wealth continues to be the prime objective with which manag-
ers of companies are charged. The extent to which success in particular performance measures
aligns with shareholder wealth maximisation is particularly relevant. Equally important are
the ways in which managers are motivated to maximise shareholder wealth. In most organisa-
tions managerial remuneration provides the link between the measures of financial perform-
ance and shareholder value.

Financial performance measures such as a company’s share price are commonly used to
indicate how well the company is doing. However, it may be questioned as to how directly the
share price reflects decisions that have been taken by management. In the context of manag-
ers’ performance against budget targets (and the company’s overall financial performance) we
may question the merits and otherwise of other performance measures such as profit after
tax, earnings per share, dividends, return on capital employed, and cash flow, etc. Each has
its limitations, but measures based on cash flow are now becoming accepted as perhaps better
indicators than profit-related measures.

During the mid-1980s, Rappaport developed shareholder value analysis, from which the
American firm Stern Stewart Management Services evolved economic value added (EVA) and
market value added (MVA). Through EVA, Stern Stewart attempted to reconcile the need for
a performance measure correlated with shareholder wealth that was also responsive to actions
taken by managers. By the mid-1990s over 200 global companies had been in discussion with
Stern Stewart with regard to adoption of EVA; Lucas Varity in the UK and Coca-Cola in the USA
were already successful users of EVA.

If we assume that the organisation’s objective is to maximise shareholder wealth then this
will be achieved if new projects are taken on and existing projects are allowed to continue only
if they create value. Investment in capital projects may be made only on the basis of choosing
those with a positive net present value (NPV). However, NPV cannot be applied to remuner-
ation schemes because it is a summary measure based on projected cash flows and not realised
performance.

Companies usually turn to company earnings and cash flow (which are termed flow mea-
sures) for management remuneration schemes. EVA supports the same sort of recommenda-
tions that NPV provides at the project level, but also provides a better measure of management
performance because it rewards for earnings generated, while also including charges for the
amount of capital employed to create those earnings.

If

Profit after tax = PAT
Weighted average cost of capital = WACC
Adjusted book value of net assets = NA

then
EVA = PAT — (WACC X NA)

It should be noted that to calculate EVA the PAT should be adjusted by adding back interest
paid. Profit before interest paid is therefore used to calculate EVA to avoid double counting
because a charge for financing is being made by deducting WACC in the calculation.
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Residual income and EVA are both measures of the surplus of profit after allowing in some way
for a cost of capital. However, they are really more measures of performance than measures
of value, but they can show value created in a single period. SVA is a measure that relates to
the life of a business or a project, but cannot be used to consider value added during a single
period. These are all essentially ‘internal’ measures made by a company.

Total shareholder return (TSR) is a measure of how value is created for shareholders,
and it is a measure that can be made external to the business. The total returns received by a
shareholder in a period include the increase in their share price plus the dividends they have
received. However, as a measure of value it also has disadvantages. Although there may be a
correlation between dividends and how well the company is performing, the share price may
be depressed because of, for example, rumours that the CEO may be resigning, even though
the company may actually be performing very well. Equally, a company’s share price may be
artificially high because of, for example, possible takeover interest, or the patenting of a new
‘miracle’ drug, even though the company may actually be performing poorly.

If

Shareholder return

Share price at the beginning of the year = S1
Share price at the end of the year = S2
Dividends paid during the year = v

then

TSR = S2 — S1 + v

Progress check 2.6

In what ways may shareholder value be measured?

Strategic financial decisions

We have looked at a few measures of shareholder value. RI, SVA, and EVA are measures that are
based on factors ‘within’ the business, such as sales revenue, profit, capital employed, and the
cost of capital. TSR return is a measure that is based on factors ‘external’ to the business: the
gains from share price increases. It has many shortcomings as a measure, primarily because to a
large extent it is outside the control of the company. A company’s share price may rise or fall for
reasons completely unrelated to its economic performance, being more closely related to market
expectations. Despite its shortcomings, TSR is perhaps the most useful measure of shareholder
value because dividends and gains from increases in share price are what shareholders actually
receive, and which they may monitor on a continual basis. Let’s look at the underlying decisions
that a company, or rather its directors are required to make to achieve value.

A business uses its assets, through ‘real’ investment, to generate profits. Profits may be used
for dividends paid to shareholders, or profits may be retained to finance future growth, which
is an alternative to increasing debt or equity. The profit available for dividends is dependent on
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how much is left after interest has been deducted from pre-tax profit. Actual dividends are then
an appropriation of post-tax profit. A company’s level of interest payments is dependent on the
level of its debt. High debt means paying high levels of interest, and so less profit is available for
dividends and for further investment.

The decisions relating to the types and levels of investment, levels of debt, levels of retained
earnings, and levels of dividends are all concerned with financial strategy. The directors of a
company, therefore, broadly have four key decisions to make concerning financial strategy,
which are all very closely linked:

m how large should the company’s asset base be? — the capital budgeting or investment deci-
sions relating to the level of ‘real’ investment to be made by the business

m what proportions of the company’s financing should be debt or equity? — its capital struc-
ture, or gearing; if a company has a target ratio of debt to equity, then in theory an increase
in its equity means that it can take on more debt

m should the company issue new equity or new debt? — for expansion of the company’s funding

® how much profit should be paid out in dividends, and how much retained? — dividend policy.

Progress check 2.7

Outline the strategic financial decisions faced by companies.

In Part II of this book we will look at a number of ways in which the use of appropriate financial
strategies at the relevant stages in the development of a business may be used to derive share-
holder value.

The agency problem

We have talked about shareholder wealth maximisation as the primary objective of a busi-
ness. But can we assume that the managers and directors of the business are making decisions
and taking actions that are consistent with the objective of maximising shareholder wealth?
Certainly managers and directors should make decisions consistent with the objective of share-
holder wealth maximisation, because that is what they are appointed to do by the sharehold-
ers. In practice, this may not actually happen, because their goals may be different and they
may be seeking to enhance their status, secure their positions, or maximise their own wealth
rather than that of the shareholders.

The agency problem occurs when directors and managers are not acting in the best inter-
ests of shareholders. Directors and managers of a company run the business day-to-day and
have access to internal management accounting information and financial reports, but share-
holders only see the external annual and six-monthly reports. Annual and interim reporting
may also, of course, be subject to manipulation by management.

The agency problem of directors not acting in the best interests of shareholders may be seen
in, for example:

m a high retention of profits and cash by directors to provide a cushion for easier day-to-day
management of operations, rather than for investment in new projects

m an unwillingness by directors to invest in risky projects in line with shareholders’ required
returns, because of fear of failure and possibly losing their jobs, particularly if they are close
to retirement age and wish to protect their pension benefits
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m receipt of high salaries, benefits, and perks by directors and chief executives, regardless of
how well, or not, the business has performed

m participation by directors and managers in profit- or eps-related bonus and incentive
schemes, which encourage short-term profit maximisation rather than creation of share-
holder value.

Why should the agency problem exist? Well, it is management who are in the position, and
who have the opportunity, to pursue the maximisation of their own wealth without detection
by the owners of the business. Additionally, both financial analysts and managers and directors
of companies have an obsession with eps as a measure of financial performance. This is despite
the fact that profit is a totally subjective measure and that it is future cash flows and not short-
term profit from which the real value of a business is determined.

A growth in profit does not necessarily translate into a sustained increase in shareholder
value. For example, diversified multinational companies, conglomerates, have in the past
acquired many businesses to effectively ‘buy’ additional profits. This has invariably not resulted
in an increase in the share prices of such conglomerates. An example of this is shown in the
performance of Tomkins plc illustrated in Mini case 2.2 below.

Tombkins plc was a multinational conglomerate, which during the 1990s had grown enor-
mously through acquisitions. Tomkins plc’s eps increased consistently each year from
around 12 pence in 1991 to around 28 pence in 2000, an average increase of 9.8% per
annum. However, its share price averaged around £2.50 during the same period, although
it briefly reached a high of £3.75 in early 1998, and then gradually fell again to around
£1.50 by the beginning of 2000.

The agency problem manifests itself through a conflict of interest. There may be different views
about risks and returns, for example. The shareholders may be interested in the long term,
whereas the rewards paid to managers, for example, may be based on short-term performance.
To address the agency problem between agents and principals — managers and shareholders —a
number of initiatives may be implemented to encourage the achievement of goal congruence:

audit of results

reporting of manager performance

work shadowing of managers and directors
the use of external analysts.

Progress check 2.8

What are the conflicts that may arise between the managers and the shareholders of a
business?

In addition to the agency problem relating to the directors and shareholders of a company,
there may be a conflict between shareholders and the lenders to a company. The shareholders
may exploit their relationship with lenders. The agency problem here is that shareholders may
prefer the use of debt for investments by the company in new high-risk projects. Shareholders
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then subsequently benefit from the rewards gained from the success of such investments, but it
is the debt-holders (lenders) who bear the risk. Debt-holders may protect their interests by hav-
ing security over specific assets or the assets in general of the company. They may also include
restrictive covenants in their loan agreements with the company, for example with regard to
decision-making, and levels of debt taken on by the company.

There has been an increasing influence of institutional investors in the UK, which to some
degree has helped in dealing with the agency problem. Institutional shareholders like banks,
pension funds, and fund management companies have been getting tougher with companies
that do not comply with the appropriate standards of behaviour, and in particular with the
appropriate corporate governance requirements.

In the mid-1990s one of the UK’s largest life assurers, Standard Life, provided an exam-
ple of financial institutions’ ‘get tough’ policy on lax corporate governance. Standard Life
expressed its concern about protecting its customers by focusing on directors’ contracts
and their remuneration, and the importance of non-executive directors. Standard Life also
registered their opposition to shareholder returns (dividends plus share price increases)
as a measure of management performance because they said that they had little to do with
management success.

Corporate governance has become a major topic from both the practical and academic perspec-
tives over the past 30 years, largely because of the increasing numbers of corporate financial
scandals that have been revealed through the media.

In the 1990s:

m Polly Peck 1990 (Asil Nadir was found guilty in August 2012 and given a 10-year prison
sentence)

m Robert Maxwell companies 1991

Barings Bank 1995

Versailles 1999.

In the 2000s:

Enron 2001

WorldCom 2002

Tyco International 2002

Parmalat 2004

Nortel’s executive pay scandals from 2001 to 2008
Lehman Brothers 2008

Bernard Madoff 2009.

Corporate governance is concerned with the relationship between company management,
its directors, and its owners, the shareholders. It is the structure and the mechanisms by
which the owners of the business ‘govern’ the management or the directors of the business.
Its importance has been highlighted as a result of the increasing concern about the conduct
of companies, following a spate of financial scandals, but also by concerns about senior exec-
utive remuneration. Such conduct has promoted a new area of study concerned with the
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psychology and drivers of financial decision-making and understanding the rationality, or
otherwise, of economic agents such as managers and directors of companies, shareholders,
and providers of loan finance. This area of research is commonly referred to as behavioural <l
finance.

Behavioural finance suggests that:

unpredicted share price movements

inexplicably high dividend yields

low ratios of companies’ book values compared with their market capitalisation
poor price performance of shares which have ‘high expectations’,

can and often do result from irrational behaviour of economic agents, and is largely psychologi-
cally based. There is a growing number of behavioural finance-related models that offer plausi-
ble explanations for market inefficiencies and share price volatility (see, for example, the Journal
of Behavioral Finance at www.journalofbehavioralfinance.org/journals/journals_main.html and
the International Journal of Behavioural Accounting and Finance at www.inderscience.com/ijbaf).
It is a discipline that is taking time to achieve widespread acceptance within mainstream finan-
cial management, but it is a subject to which we will return in Chapter 12.

In the UK in 1991, a committee was set up by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC), the
London Stock Exchange, and the accounting profession, which was chaired by Sir Adrian
Cadbury. The aim of the committee was to address the concerns about company conduct
and to make recommendations on best practice. The framework for establishing good cor-
porate governance and accountability set up by the Cadbury Committee was formulated as <l
the Committee’s Code of Best Practice, published in December 1992. This provided a bench-
mark against which to assess compliance. The Cadbury Code was updated in 1998 by the
Hampel Committee, in order to include their own Committee’s work, and the Greenbury <
Committee report on directors’ remuneration (published July 1995). In September 1999
the Turnbull Committee report on Internal Control: Guidance for Directors on the Combined
Code of Practice was published by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales (ICAEW).

In May 2000, the original Cadbury Code and subsequent reports were all consolidated by
the Committee on Corporate Governance and published in the Combined Code of Practice. <
Following the consolidation two additional reports were commissioned with a view to strength-
ening the guidelines elaborated in the Combined Code of Practice. These additional reports
were:

m Audit Committees Combined Code Guidance, a report and proposed guidance by an FRC-
appointed group chaired by Sir Robert Smith published in 2003

and

m areview of the role and effectiveness of non-executive directors by Sir Derek Higgs also pub-
lished in 2003.

The guidance from these subsequent reports was, in turn, incorporated into the Combined

Code of Practice when it was revised in July 2003 under the title of the Combined Code on <
Corporate Governance. Subsequent reviews and revisions of the Code took place in 2006

and 2008 leading to the latest revision under the title of the UK Corporate Governance Code 4
issued by the FRC in June 2010. We will look at the UK Corporate Governance Code in more
detail in Chapter 3.
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Worked example 2.7

Directors of companies are concerned with the important issues of agency-related prob-
lems and their impact. What is the basis of discussions they may have to consider what
actions they may implement to try and minimise the impact of such problems?

Their discussion may include the following:

The agency problem emerges when managers make decisions that are inconsistent
with the objective of shareholder wealth maximisation. There are a number of alternative
approaches a company can adopt to minimise the possible impact of such a problem, and
while these would differ from company to company, in general such approaches would
range between:

m the encouragement of goal congruence between shareholders and managers through
the monitoring of managerial behaviour and the assessment of management decision
outcomes

and

m the enforcement of goal congruence between shareholders and managers through the
incorporation of formalised obligations and conditions of employment into manage-
ment contracts.

Any such approach would invariably be associated with some form of remuneration pack-
age to include an incentive scheme to reward managers, such as performance-related
pay, or executive share options.

Progress check 2.9

Outline how the agency problem may occur between the shareholders, directors, and lend-
ers of a business.

We have seen that agency problems may exist not only between directors and shareholders but
also between any of the stakeholders of the business: its employees; managers; shareholders;
lenders; suppliers; customers. However, it is the agency problems arising between directors and
shareholders with which we are primarily concerned in the current chapter, and in the next
section we will look at how incentive schemes may be used to try and address such problems.

Incentive schemes

A big part of the corporate governance framework is concerned with directors’ remuner-
ation. Many different types of pay schemes have been developed to try and overcome the
agency problem between managers and shareholders. For example, performance-related pay
schemes may use performance measures like profit, and return on capital employed (ROCE)
to compare against pre-agreed targets for the calculation of additional remuneration such as
bonuses. As we have already seen, there are problems with these measures relating to their
accuracy and the fact that they are open to manipulation. Perhaps even more importantly,
these measures are not necessarily indicators of shareholder wealth.
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Executive share option schemes have become increasingly popular because of the problems
associated with performance-related pay schemes. Managers become potential shareholders
and so they should have the same aims. Therefore the achievement of goal congruence is seen
as a big benefit of such schemes. There are many examples of company directors participating
in some extremely lucrative share option schemes.

In 1985 the co-founder of Apple Computers, Steve Jobs, was forced to resign when com-
pany performance took a downturn. He left owning 7m Apple shares worth US$120m
and went on to form Pixar, which went public in 1995, and in which his 80% stake was
worth US$1.1bn. In 1997, Apple re-hired Jobs as CEO and in 2000 the board of directors
of Apple granted Jobs share options worth US$200m (plus US$90m for the purchase
and maintenance of a Gulfstream V jet). In May 2006, Disney paid US$8.06bn for Pixar,
which resulted in Steve Jobs becoming the Disney Corporation’s largest shareholder.

However, executive share option schemes do have disadvantages. There are many external
impacts on share price that are outside the influence or the control of managers. Therefore,
there is not a completely direct link between managers’ performance and their rewards. There
may be disagreement and discontent arising out of the decision as to which managers are cho-
sen to participate in executive share option schemes. This may therefore be de-motivational
and have a negative impact on the achievement of goal congruence.

Regardless of the disadvantages, executive share option schemes (rather like the company
car used to be) are regarded as a ‘must have’ benefit. But are they a ‘one-sided bet’ for the man-
agers? If the shares go down in price then the managers receive no penalty. However, share
options do tend to be longer term and so there may be no reward if the managers leave the
company. There has also been an increase in the popularity of eps-growth-based management
incentives. Here, there are still potential problems concerned with accuracy and manipulation
of the numbers, and as we saw in the Tomkins example an increase in eps does not necessarily
result in an increase in shareholder value.

Progress check 2.10

How may directors’ bonus incentive schemes be used to deal with the agency problem?

Summary of key points

B A company's strategic management process begins by defining its mission, its underlying
belief, and continues with the establishment of corporate objectives, corporate appraisal
analyses, and then development of its strategies and plans.

B The maximisation of shareholder wealth is the primary financial objective of companies.
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B There may be a number of secondary or surrogate objectives of a company, for example
profit maximisation, sales revenue maximisation, and survival.

B It is important that companies adopt appropriate financial strategies in pursuit of the
objective of maximisation of shareholder wealth.

m The efficient market hypothesis is an important corporate finance theory, but in practice
capital markets are generally regarded as inefficient.

m Shareholder wealth is derived from dividends and capital gains from the increase in share
price.

m The key strategic financial decisions faced by companies are concerned with levels of
‘real’ investment and gearing, and dividend policy.

® Agency theory considers why the goals and aims of the various stakeholders of a com-
pany are not always aligned, particularly with regard to a company’s managers and its
shareholders.

B Incentive schemes may be used by companies to overcome the agency problem with
regard to their directors and shareholders.

Glossary of key terms

agency problem Agency theory is a hypothesis that attempts to explain elements of organ-
isational behaviour through an understanding of the relationships between principals (such
as shareholders) and agents (such as company managers). The agency problem manifests
itself in a conflict that may exist between the actions undertaken by agents in furtherance of
their own self-interest and those required to promote the interests of the principals. Within
the hierarchy of companies, the same lack of goal congruence may occur when divisional
managers promote their own self-interest over those of other divisions and of the company
generally.

behavioural finance An area of study concerned with the psychology of financial decision-
making and understanding the rationality or otherwise of economic agents such as manag-
ers and directors of companies, shareholders, and providers of loan finance.

business strategy Strategy is the ‘what’ we want the organisation to be, what we want to do,
and where we want the organisation to go, rather than the ‘how’ to achieve those things.
Business strategy is concerned with these ‘whats’ in terms of plans relating to markets, prod-
uct planning, the competitive position of the business.

Cadbury Committee The report of the Cadbury Committee (December 1992) on the
Financial Aspects of Corporate Governance was set up to consider issues in relation to
financial reporting and accountability, and to make recommendations on good practice,
relating to:

responsibilities of executive and non-executive directors
establishment of company audit committees
responsibility of auditors

links between shareholders, directors, and auditors

any other relevant matters.
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The report established a Cadbury Code of Best Practice, which was succeeded by the Com-
bined Code of Practice in 2000, which was itself succeeded by the Combined Code on
Corporate Governance in 2003 and then the UK Corporate Governance Code in 2010.

Combined Code on Corporate Governance A code, which replaced, but was built upon,
the Combined Code of Practice by including a review of the role and effectiveness of non-
executive directors by Derek Higgs and the Smith review of audit committees.

Combined Code of Practice The successor to the Cadbury Code of Best Practice and issued
by the Hampel Commiittee. The code consisted of a set of principles of corporate governance
and detailed code provisions embracing the work of the Cadbury, Greenbury, and Hampel
Committees. Section 1 of the code contained the principles and provisions applicable to
UK-listed companies, while section 2 contained the principles and provisions applicable
to institutional shareholders in their relationships with companies. The Combined Code
of Practice was succeeded by the Combined Code on Corporate Governance, which was
subsequently succeeded by the UK Corporate Governance Code.

corporate governance The system by which companies are directed and controlled. Boards
of directors are responsible for the governance of their companies. The shareholders’ role
in governance is to appoint the directors and the auditors and to satisfy themselves that an
appropriate governance structure is in place.

corporate value The present value of the returns expected from the range of ‘real’ investments
made and business strategies pursued by a company.

economic value added (EVA™) Profit after tax adjusted for distortions in operating
performance (such as goodwill, extraordinary losses, and operating leases) less a charge
for the amount of capital employed to create that profit (calculated from the adjusted book
value of net assets multiplied by the company’s weighted average cost of capital).

efficient market hypothesis A hypothesis that the stock market responds immediately to all avail-
able information, with the effect that an individual investor cannot, in the long run, expect to
obtain greater than average returns from a diversified portfolio of shares. There are three forms:

m weak form, which is a market in which security prices instantaneously reflect all informa-
tion on past price and volume changes in the market

m semi-strong form, which is a market in which security prices reflect all publicly available
information

m strong form, which is a market in which security prices reflect instantaneously all infor-
mation available to investors, whether publicly available or not.

environmental analysis A part of corporate appraisal, which includes a review of the business
in terms of its external factors.

financial strategy Financial strategy is concerned with investor value, and the courses of
action required to achieve the specific objective of creating shareholder value above the
returns expected for the specific type of investment and market. Financial strategy is to do
with decisions related to the financing of the business, investments in individual projects, the
use of debt or equity, and decisions about how much profit should be paid in dividends and
how much should be retained for investment in new projects.

Hampel Committee The 1998 report of the Hampel Committee on Corporate Governance was
set up to conduct a review of the Cadbury Code and its implications, and considered:

m areview of the role of directors
B matters arising from the Greenbury Study Group on directors’ remuneration
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m the role of shareholders and auditors
m other relevant matters.

The Hampel Committee was responsible for publication of the corporate governance Com-
bined Code of Practice.

market value added (MVA) The difference between the market value of the company and the
adjusted book value of its assets.

mission A summary of goals and policies, which does not have to be in writing, but is generally
a sense of purpose or underlying belief of the organisation.

objectives Objectives are the visionary statements set out by the company before it starts its
detailed planning, its primary financial objective being the maximisation of shareholder
wealth.

residual income (RI) Profit before tax less an imputed interest charge for invested capital,
which may be used to assess the performance of a division or a branch of a business.

resources analysis A part of corporate appraisal, which includes a review of the business in
terms of its internal factors.

shareholder value (or investor value) The required returns from a company expected by the
market, reflected in the value of its securities.

shareholder value added (SVA) A measure of shareholder value derived from cash forecasts
over the specific time period of a company’s competitive advantage using its sales growth,
operating profit, tax rate, and investments in capital expenditure and working capital,
discounted to present day values using the company’s cost of capital.

strategic choice Strategic choice uses the information provided from the corporate appraisal
(resources analysis and environmental analysis) to evaluate the suitability, feasibility, and
acceptability of the development of alternative strategies through screening options, finan-
cial analysis, risk analysis, and strategic method, which deals with the ways in which a com-
pany may develop and grow.

strategic management The strategic management process, which includes strategic plan-
ning, is involved with making decisions on the objectives of the organisation, changes in
these objectives, the resources used to attain these objectives, the policies that are to govern
the acquisition, and the use and disposition of resources.

surrogate objectives The primary objective of a company is the maximisation of shareholder
wealth but there are many other objectives in support of, but considered secondary to, the
main objective that are described as substitute or surrogate objectives. These may include
profit maximisation, share price maximisation, market share maximisation, earnings per
share growth, sales maximisation, survival, dividend growth, social responsibility, non-
financial objectives (like customer satisfaction and delivery reliability).

UK Corporate Governance Code The corporate governance code applicable to listed com-
panies, issued by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) in June 2010, and described as a
‘guide only in general terms to principles, structure and processes’.
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Assessment material

Questions

Q2.1 Outline the primary objective of a company, the maximisation of shareholder wealth,
and how it may be achieved.

Q2.2 What are some of the surrogate objectives that a business may have and what is their
relevance?

Q2.3 Outline the efficient market hypothesis with regard to corporate financial theory.
Q2.4 Explain the ways in which shareholder value may be measured.

Q2.5 What s financial strategy, and how does it differ from business strategy?

Q2.6 Inwhat ways may strategic financial decisions impact on shareholder value?
Q2.7 Outline the agency problem and the ways in which it may manifest itself.

Q2.8 How may incentive schemes help deal with the agency problem?

Discussion points

D2.1 The CEO of a diversified multinational company said: ‘So long as I continue to report
an increase in eps for the business each year then I am doing my job and the sharehold-
ers should be pleased.’ Discuss.

D2.2 Can the goal of maximisation of the value of the company conflict with other goals,
such as avoiding unethical or illegal behaviour? Do the goals of, for example, customer
and employee safety, the environment, and the general good of society fit within this
framework, or are they essentially ignored?

D2.3 Company ownership varies around the world. Historically, individuals have owned
the majority of shares in public companies in the United States. In Germany and
Japan, however, banks, other large financial institutions, and other companies
own most of the shares in public companies. Discuss whether agency problems are
likely to be more or less severe in Germany and Japan than in the United States and
why.

D2.4 In recent years, large financial institutions such as mutual funds and pension funds
have increasingly become the owners of shares in the United States, and these institu-
tions are becoming more active in corporate affairs. Discuss what the implications of
this trend may be with regard to agency problems.

D2.5 Discuss the increasing popularity of share option schemes as an important element of
executive remuneration.

D2.6 Why do you think there may have been such a proliferation of financial scandals in the
USA, UK, and Europe during the 1990s and 2000s?



m Chapter 2 Corporate objectives

Exercises

Solutions are provided in Appendix 2 to all excercise numbers highlighted in colour.

Level |

E2.1 Time allowed — 15 minutes

Identify the components of shareholder wealth and explain how the strategic finan-
cial decisions made by a company impact on each of them.

E2.2 Time allowed — 15 minutes

Explain what is meant by shareholder value and consider the value-creating alterna-
tives. Outline three ways of measuring shareholder value.

E2.3 Time allowed — 30 minutes

Explain how alternative methods may be used to measure shareholder value and give
your view as to which may be the most appropriate measure.

Level Il

E2.4  Time allowed — 30 minutes

At a recent board meeting the managing director of Angel plc announced that the
company’s directors had been awarded substantial cash bonuses and share options,
despite the company incurring substantial losses during the last financial year. Explain
why the above represents an agency problem within a company between the directors
and the shareholders, and the ways in which it may be resolved.

E2.5 Time allowed — 30 minutes

In 2012 Chancer Ltd announced that to finance the development of a new head office
in the centre of London, the company would need to borrow £30m secured against
the company's existing assets. As a result, the company's gearing ratio would rise from
20% to 85%. Outline the agency problems that may exist with regard to managers,
shareholders, and lenders of the company, and suggest ways in which these agency
problems may be reduced.

E2.6  Time allowed — 30 minutes

Research evidence suggests a large amount of support for the efficient market hypoth-
esis. Examine the reasons why the movements in the share prices of companies may
not be consistent with this theory.



Assessment material G

At arecent press briefing at the London Stock Exchange, a senior manager was quoted
as saying ‘an efficient market is a good market, which is good for the market, good for
business, and good for profit’. Discuss what the senior manager meant and whether
the statement is correct.

E2.7 Time allowed — 30 minutes

E2.8 Time allowed — 30 minutes

Crosby plc has a stock market valuation of £25m, and Nash plc has a stock market
valuation of £18m (the market valuation equals number of shares in issue multiplied
by the share price).

Both companies have similar profit profiles, as follows:

Crosby plc Nash plc

£m £m
2007 1.3 1.8
2008 1.7 1.2
2009 1.2 2.3
2010 1.5 1.5
2011 2.3 1.8
2012 2.0 1.4

Explain the reasons why shareholders may regard Crosby plc as being worth £7m more
than Nash, despite their having had the same total profits over the past six years.

E2.9 Time allowed — 30 minutes

In the context of the efficient markets hypothesis, distinguish between pricing
efficiency, allocational efficiency, and operational efficiency.

E2.10 Time allowed — 30 minutes

Briefly explain the implications of the efficient markets hypothesis for the financial
managers of a medium-sized company that is seeking a public stock market listing.

E2.11 Time allowed — 30 minutes

Explain the range of remuneration incentive schemes and how they may be used to
encourage managers of companies to make decisions that are consistent with the
objective of maximisation of shareholder wealth.
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People around the world are living longer.

As a result, many will suffer from chronic
diseases and will require more long term

drug therapy. This, together with increasing
demand from doctors and patients for efficient
pain management and continued economic
development in Asia, will further drive demand
for pharmaceutical products.

Johnson Matthey holds a strong position
in opiate based active pharmaceutical
ingredients (APls), which are used to relieve
pain, and in other niche controlled APIs, in
particular amphetamines used in the treatment
of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
(ADHD). Its API Manufacturing businesses,
based in the UK and USA, delivered strong
growth this year, increasing their sales and
growing market share.

This performance was supported by the
businesses’ Riverside manufacturing facility,
located in Conshohocken, USA, which was
acquired by Johnson Matthey in November
2010. This new plant, which more than
doubles our manufacturing capacity in North
America, has been successfully integrated with
the businesses’ other operations and is
enabling us to manufacture products more
efficiently, support growth and capitalise on
new market opportunities.
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= The Riverside facility more than doubles Johnson Matthey’s

= Clean room facilties at Riverside for the
/API manufacturing capacity in North America.

production of highly potent APIs.
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78 Johnson Matthey Annual Report & Accounts 2012
Report of the Directors — Governance
Governance

Governance
Letter from the Chairman

“l am pleased to present
the Governance section
of the annual report,
including the Corporate
Governance Report
for the year ended
31st March 2012.”

Dear Shareholder

Good governance is a cornerstone of a successful and sustainable company.
The group has a well established framework of policies, processes and
management systems to support its governance and sustainability efforts, which
apply to all group operations worldwide. These are described on pages 79 to 81.

The UK Corporate Governance Code

The formal Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 84 to 99. The
company is reporting against the UK Corporate Governance Code (the Code),
which was introduced in June 2010. Although based on the Combined Code
on Corporate Governance (the Combined Code) which it replaced, the Code
contains a number of substantive changes to the Combined Code’s main
principles and provisions. In the main, these place greater emphasis on board
behaviour. As in previous years, the company is reporting on how it has applied
the main principles and whether it has complied with the relevant provisions.
Under the Code, companies must explain their business model and strategies
for delivering objectives. Explanations of our business model and strategy are
contained in the Business Review on pages 4 to 75. The Responsibility of
Directors statement is set out on page 120.

Board Role and Effectiveness

The preface to the Code encourages chairmen to report in their annual
statement how they have ensured that the Code principles concerning
leadership and board effectiveness have been applied during the year. | refer to
this briefly in my Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 and 7 and more fully in the
Corporate Governance Report. In preparing these, account has been taken of
the Guidance on Board Effectiveness issued by the Financial Reporting Council
in March 2011, which is aimed at assisting boards in applying these Code
principles.

Board and Committee Evaluation

We report on pages 96 and 97 on the board and committee evaluation process
carried out following my appointment as Chairman Designate in March 2011.
For the first time, the evaluation was externally facilitated by an independent
consultant experienced in board evaluation. The evaluation process was ongoing
at the date of publication of the 2011 annual report and has since been
concluded. We report on the methodology used and the outcome. The board is
conducting an internal review process this year and we describe the process
being used. | propose to present